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Thursday, November 24, 2016
--- Upon commencing at 9:36 a.m. 
     MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.


The Board sits today on the matter of an application by Hydro One Networks Inc., filed on May 31st, 2016, under Section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, seeking approval for changes to its transmission revenue requirement and to the Ontario uniform transmission rates, to be effective January 1st, 2017 and January 1st, 2018.


Since that time, the Board has provided procedural orders and made decisions approving intervenor status and facilitating a discovery process and has provided its determinations on motions dealing with confidentiality and responses to interrogatories.  We will deal with a few of those outstanding issues before we commence with the hearing this morning.


At this time, I will now take appearances. 

Appearances:

     MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Panel Members.  My name is Gordon Nettleton.  With me is Ms. Kim McNab.  We are counsel on behalf of Hydro One Networks Inc., the applicant. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton. 

     MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Panel.  My name is Tom Brett.  I am here for the Building Owners and Managers Association. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Brett.

     MR. ELSON:  Good morning, Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Elson, good morning.

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Good morning.  Emma Blanchard for Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Blanchard.

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and I would like to put in an appearance for Mr. Jay Shepherd, who will be cross-examining the Navigant panel. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Good morning, Panel.  I am Bohdan Dumka.  I am with the Society of Energy Professionals. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Dumka, good morning.

     MS. POWER:  Good morning.  Vicky Power with the Society of Energy Professionals. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Thank you, Ms. Power.

     MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning.  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  Shelly Grice, consultant for the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

     MR. KIDANE:  Good morning.  Bayu Kidane, consultant for the Power Workers Union. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

     MR. YAUCH:  Good morning.  Brady Yauch with Energy Probe Research Foundation. 

     DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning.  Roger Higgin, consultant to Energy Probe.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Higgin.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Good morning.  Elisabeth DeMarco for Anwaatin Inc., and I am going to go into the ten member companies, and I promise I will only do this once.  Ten member companies, First Nations, that are party to Anwaatin Inc., include Waaskiinaysay Ziibu Inc. Development Corporation, Aroland First Nation, MoCreebec Eeyoud, the Five Nations in the Lake Nipigon Watershed, which include, Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek, BZA, Rocky Bay First Nation, Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek, BNA, Red Rock Indian Band, White Sand First Nation, and Animbigoo Zaagiigan Anishinaabek, AZA.  Collectively, we will refer to them as the Anwaatin First Nations communities.  With me is... 

     MR. FERGUSON:  Cary Ferguson, counsel to Anwaatin.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Janigan.  Good morning.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board staff.  To my right today is Mr. Harold Thiessen. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Millar.


Okay.  I had mentioned that we would deal with a couple of prelim matters, and before I ask you, Mr. Nettleton, if you have any, one of the items that was outstanding from the process up to this date was the declaration of interim rates.  There was a request from Hydro One that we declare the uniform transmission rates interim as of January 1 and that we approve a deferral account for any revenues that may be approved for collection after that date.


Hydro One stated in its request that it was unlikely that the Board would be issuing a decision before January 1, and that prompted its request, and the Board agrees that it’s unlikely, given the date we are at, that there would be a decision issued prior to that, so we approve the requested deferral account, and there is a question as to whether or not we would need to declare those rates interim, but we do.


The UTR is a bit of -- there is a lot of moving parts, so we will declare the rates interim.  It’s of no harm to anyone if we -- that’s unnecessary, so let’s do that.  So the rates are interim and the requested deferral account is approved.


The other item I just want to prompt -- and you are likely to speak to it anyway, but the -- we just issued Procedural Order No. 5 just this past Tuesday, a couple days ago, and, in that, there was some guidance and direction and requests to Hydro One, specifically the business plans issue, and we wanted to deal with that as a preliminary matter.


I just let you know -- and you might be speaking to this -- whatever witness panel can speak to that.  We don’t need to change the order that you have, so whenever that witness panel is up -- if it’s this one, great.  If not, we can deal with it at what whatever point, so I will leave it to you now. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I am pleased to address those points. 


First, thank you for the interim relief.  That’s very helpful.


With respect to the preliminary matters that were addressed in Procedural Order 5, happy to first inform you that this panel is the panel that will be addressing the business plan matters.  What we thought might be helpful, Mr. Chairman, is that if we commenced the testimony of this panel with some direct examination, and I think that will be helpful to the exercise of better understanding the business planning process that was outlined in the additional evidence that Hydro One filed in response to the motions decision.


So with your leave, I would like to do that with this panel, and particularly Mr. Vels, who will be responsible for addressing business planning matters.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  That’s the first preliminary matter.


The second preliminary matter that we have, sir, is, in the Procedural Order 5 decision, there was some discussion about having a Hydro One witness or witnesses available as early in the process as possible to deal with the transmission losses issue.  So we have considered that, and we are hoping that the gap that may exist tomorrow -- and I am saying optimistically "that exists tomorrow" -- could have been used for that purpose, but my friend Mr. Elson has informed me that, unfortunately, due to other circumstances, he is not available tomorrow, and I think we both agree that this discussion should be one where Mr. Elson is available.


So we are going to suggest that we revert back to the plan that we originally had, sir, and that was to have the transmission losses discussion carried out when the planning panel appears.  Mr. Young, Mr. Bing Young, is on that panel, and if things go hopefully as planned, we would expect the planning panel to come up as soon as Monday, if not Tuesday of next week, and I am hoping that that would then address your concern or the Board’s concerns with respect to having that issue arise as early in the process as possible. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And just the driver for that request is the -- that if things do surface within that discussion that prompt the Board to request further information, we would like that information to be available prior to the close of the cross and the scheduled hearing, so that is what was driving it, so if Monday seems like it’s the earliest date, I think that’s feasible in achieving the objective. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  So on Monday -- perhaps a little bit of a roadmap would be helpful.  What we see here today is today’s session is really going to be focusing on the strategy panel, Hydro One’s strategy panel, and the -- again, judging -- or hopefully, basing on the level of cross-examination for this panel that my friends have provided to the Board, we can have this panel stand down and excused either end of day today or early tomorrow.


Tomorrow’s session is then going to concentrate on the customers panels.  Originally we have planned for two panels to appear on that topic, an expert panel comprising of the IPSOS authors of the IPSOS report that has been filed and which Hydro One is relying on and then, secondly, the company witnesses that would be speaking to the customer engagement process.  


Now, I know my friend is going to -- and I have forgotten your last -- I’m sorry.  But I know my friend is going to suggest that we try and consolidate that -- those two panels so that there would actually only be one panel, and what I can advise her is that we are -- I would like to discuss that with my clients at the break and get back to you, but I think that there is some merit to that approach.

But I think, in any event, tomorrow is likely to be a shortened day because the challenge -- the next panel following the two customer panels is the Navigant panel.  And, unfortunately, with American Thanksgiving today and this weekend, Mr. Buckstaff is not available until Monday. But he has bought his plane ticket, and he is arriving over the weekend, and will be here first thing Monday morning for Navigant. 

So following that order, I think that today will be strategy; tomorrow hopefully will be the customer; and then we are on to the Navigant panel; and then following the planning panel. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   And the planning panel, you feel you will still be able to get in on Monday, hopefully? 

     MR. NETTLETON:  If I could knock my head and knock wood, I would sure like to.  But if all things go as planned, we would certainly hope that based on the estimates that we have received. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Understood.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  But, again, I think it really is dependent on the level of cross. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  Thank you.  Any other preliminary matters or comments?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  The only other comment I’d make, sir, is that all of the requests for additional information that were set out in Procedural Order 5 were filed over the evening.  Over the course of the evening, there were multiple filings.  So I think we have -- there is now new exhibits on the RESS system.  

I think -- I’ve had a discussion with Mr. Millar just briefly this morning, and I think the best thing to do in terms of assigning exhibits to some, if not all of those documents, is to wait and see how they come up in cross-examination.  

I would ask for two documents to be given exhibit numbers, only because we will be referring to them multiple times.  And the first is my letter dated November 14th that attached a witness responsibility table, and that table set out the names of all of the witnesses and the panels and also their areas of evidence that they will be responsible for.  And I will be referring to that document each time that the panels are assembled and adopt their evidence.  

So if we could have that letter assigned an exhibit number, that would be great. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, that will be K1.1. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  Mr. Nettleton’s letter dated November 14, 2016, attaching a witness responsibility table
     MR. NETTLETON:  And the second document, sir, is my letter to the Board dated November 21st, which attached the curriculum vitae of all of the witnesses for all of the different panels.  


And, again, I think we will be referring to that document when each of the panels take the stand and have their evidence adopted. 

     MR. MILLAR:  K1.2. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you. 

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  Mr. Nettleton’s letter to the Board dated November 21, 2016, attaching the curriculum vitae of all of the witnesses
     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  And I think, with that, sir, I would -- it just dawned on me.  The witness responsibility table was updated last night to include that cross-reference to the issues list, so -- but I think for sake of ease, we will be referring to K1.1 as the document that I will be referring to for purposes of witnesses adopting the evidence. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you for that.  That was the only outstanding item that I was going to ask you about, Mr. Nettleton.  


So there’s a document that does have the cross-reference to the issues? 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, sir. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  That will be helpful.  Thank you. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Those are my matters. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  Thank you very much.  So we will have this panel affirmed then, Mr. Nettleton. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.  If I could maybe first introduce the witnesses --  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Certainly. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  -- and then we can get on, unless any other party has preliminary matters. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you.  I am seeing none.  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Please introduce your panel. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you. Mr. Chairman, Board Members.  It is a pleasure to introduce to you the members of Hydro One Networks Inc.’s strategy panel.  

Seated closest to the panel is Ms. Glendy Cheung.  Ms. Cheung is the senior manager of taxation.  Ms. Cheung has been in this position quite recently since 2015, 

and prior to her employment with Hydro One.  She was the senior manager of taxation at the accounting firm of KPMG.  Ms. Cheung is a chartered professional accountant and has completed her in-depth tax courses with her professional institution and is here primarily to speak to the tax issues associated with the privatization and the initial public offering of Hydro One.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Mr. Nettleton, I take it that is the issues that were highlighted in the issues list decision. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, yes. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you.  Okay. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  She and Mr. Vels will be addressing those matters. 


Seated beside Ms. Cheung is Mr. Michael Penstone.  Mr. Penstone is a familiar face to the Board and to many in this room.  He is the vice-president of planning.  Mr. Penstone has spent his entire career with Hydro One and has taken on varying and increasing levels of responsibility and is here, again, to address on this panel matters that concern enterprise strategy.  He will also be seated on the investment planning and planning process panel, so more detailed questions about the planning process will be saved for that panel.  But, for this panel, he is here to talk more on the strategy level issues. 


Beside Mr. Penstone is Mr. Michael Vels.  Mr. Vels is the chief financial officer of Hydro One.  Mr. Vels joined Hydro One in July of 2015, and, prior to that, he was the chief financial officer of Maple Leaf Foods and, in that organization, had taken on varying and increasing levels of senior financial positions.  Mr. Vels is a chartered accountant by training and has also received his ICD designation.  


And finally, beside Mr. Vels is Mr. Oded Hubert.  Mr. Hubert is also a familiar face to many in this room.  He is the vice-president of regulatory affairs, and he, like Mr. Penstone, has spent his entire career with Hydro One and taking on varying responsibilities of increasing importance.  Mr. Hubert will be addressing the regulatory aspects of enterprise strategy and with that, Madam Court Reporter, I would ask if the witnesses could be sworn or affirmed.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I will do that from up here.

Hydro One Networks Inc. Strategy Panel
Ms. G. Cheung, 
Mr. M. Penstone,

Mr. M. Vels,
Mr. O Hubert, Affirmed
     MR. QUESNELLE:   Mr. Nettleton?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Panel, I would ask you to turn up what has been marked as Exhibits K1.1 and 1.2.  Again, your CVs are included in K1.2 and also the witness responsibility chart that is attached to K 1.1, and I am going to ask you some questions regarding the evidence that is found in the attachment to K1.1 that concerns each of your listings beside your names. 

So, Ms. Cheung, do you have that attachment before you?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Cheung, can you confirm that the evidence that is listed beside your name on that chart was prepared by you or under your direction and control?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, it was.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  And, Ms. Cheung, do you have any corrections or errors to make to any of that evidence?

     MS. CHEUNG:  I would like to make one correction.  That's to Exhibit I, tab 4, Schedule 18, LPMA IR No. 18.  The question -- it was on line 16.  The response provided in this IR was that Hydro One Limited realized a 2.3 billion one-time PILs departure tax.  The response should read that Hydro One Networks Inc. realized a 2.3 billion one-time PILs departure tax.

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


And, Ms. Cheung, with those corrections, is this evidence that's listed accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And do you, therefore, adopt this evidence as your evidence in this proceeding?

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


Mr. Penstone, do you have a copy of the attachment to Exhibit K1.1?

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And can you confirm that the evidence listed beside your name in that document was prepared by you and under your direction and control?

     MR. PENSTONE:  I confirm that. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Penstone, do you have any changes or corrections to make to any of that evidence?

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do not. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Penstone, do you, therefore, adopt this evidence as your evidence in this proceeding? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


Mr. Vels, can you confirm that the listing of evidence beside your name in the attachment to Exhibit K1.1 was prepared by you or under your direction and control?

     MR. VELS:  Yes, I can. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And do you have any changes or corrections to make to any of that evidence?

     MR. VELS:  No, I don't. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And can you, therefore, confirm that the evidence is accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?

     MR. VELS:  Yes, I can. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And can you, therefore, adopt that evidence as your evidence in this proceeding?

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And, Mr. Vels, as the officer of Hydro One, can you also confirm that the evidence in this proceeding is accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief on behalf of Hydro One Networks Inc.?

     MR. VELS:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And do you, therefore, as the officer of Hydro One Networks Inc., adopt the evidence as the evidence of Hydro One Networks Inc. in this proceeding?

     MR. VELS:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


Mr. Hubert, do you have a copy of the exhibit to -- the attachment to Exhibit K1.1? 

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And can you confirm that the evidence listed beside your name was evidence prepared by you or under your direction and control? 

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, I confirm. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And do you have any changes or corrections to make to that evidence?

     MR. HUBERT:  No, I do not. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And, Mr. Hubert, can you, therefore, confirm that the evidence is accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And do you, therefore, adopt that evidence as your evidence in this proceeding?

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you. 
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Vels, as I mentioned to the Panel, we are going to have a bit of a discussion of this panel in the form of direct examination, and I would like to start, sir, if you could, by summarizing -- having you summarize the primary areas of the evidence for which this panel is responsible for.  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  This panel is responsible for enterprise strategy, which includes the business planning process, performance and scorecard metrics, corporate governance and executive management and leadership of the company, regulatory and customer engagement strategy, investment planning strategy, and income tax calculation changes resulting from the privatization of Hydro One. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  And if we could start with the business planning process, sir.  Do you have any updates regarding the status of the transmission business plan, which was the subject of some discussion both at the technical conference and also in the recent motions decision?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, I do.  What I would like to do is further outline the changes and improvements that we made to the business planning process.  At the technical conference, the company advised that there was no separately-approved business plan that underpins the transmission rate filing, rate application.


As I explained in our motions decision additional evidence filing, the preparation of this application occurred at a time when there were many and substantive changes happening at the company, as the transition to a publicly-traded company was currently underway.  A new independent board of directors had just been appointed and new senior management had just been hired.


Hydro One, the company, has a robust and consistent business planning process that the company had used during -- and followed during 2015.  This culminated in the preparation of a draft business plan using their normal procedures that was discussed with the new board and management at various times, but at the latest date in November 2015.  
At that time, the new board and management, including myself, decided that it was appropriate to undertake a detailed review of the organization at that time with several goals in mind that would potentially enhance the draft business plan and result in an improved transmission rate application.  These goals included an exhaustive review of the potential for further productivity and efficiency over and above what was included in the draft business plan, a customer consultation process, preparation of a comprehensive OEB scorecard, and improved analytics relating to the risk underlying the transmission reliability assumptions. 


The areas that that scope of work covered and that we executed with the help of the Hydro One management covered regulatory, asset management, capital efficiency, procurement, O&M efficiency, organizational effectiveness, and customer engagement. 


The result of this activity that took place between December '15 and May 2016 were included and are reflected in the transmission rate application that is now before the OEB.


The revised business plans for both the transmission and the distribution businesses are now complete and will be filed with and approved by our board of directors on December 2nd, 2016.  


During this period of intensive work, from December to May, the board of directors was closely informed about our work and the conclusions that culminated in the transmission rate filing that itself was reviewed with the Board prior to its filing in May.  So, as a result of this activity, we were able to build on the business plan process that was already in place that we believe enhance it with higher and more specific efficiency savings targets and enhanced scorecard, a much better understanding of how the plan aligns with customer needs and preferences, and a more thorough understanding of the reliability impacts of different approaches to investments in the system.  


So the content of this application effectively functions as Hydro One's transmission business plan.  It outlines Hydro One's transmission strategic goals, values, and objectives and the other aspects of the business plan that are now described in the OEB's Rates Application Handbook that was recently published in October 2016. 


For example, the summary -- the executive summary to our application, found at Exhibit A-3-1, describes the overall strategy for the Hydro One transmission business, particularly our goals, how these goals relate to what is sought in the application, and the plan to meet them, and how customers will benefit.  As the handbook says, it forms the story that underpins the rate application as a whole.  


As I just mentioned, we have provided recently our board of directors with transmission and distribution business plans for approval at the next scheduled board of directors meeting, which is currently scheduled for December 2nd, 2016.  The formal transmission business plan that we have tabled with them is entirely consistent with the content of this application.  


So, at that point, we are back on cycle from a business plan preparation perspective.  The approved distribution business plan will be filed and form part of Hydro One's distribution rates application, which is planned to be filed in March 2017.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Vels, you mentioned productivity and efficiency was one of the objectives of this additional work.  Can you explain whether productivity and efficiency gains have been achieved following the change in management and the initial public offering?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  As I mentioned, part of our focus and the work that we completed between December and May was a very significant focus, both on productivity and efficiency, and the measurements and the systems underlying the opportunities that we believe there should be in those areas.  We have investigated a great number of processes, policies, and activities that we believed could be changed, replaced, or eliminated to drive more value for customers.  

Part of our activity in addition was also to more clearly understand existing productivity initiatives, of which there were several, and particularly ascertained that we would be able to measure the financial benefits of those initiatives and ensure that the outcomes would be reflected in KPIs.  


Exhibit TCJ1.17 outlines productivity savings that we have included in this application.  Examples of initiatives that we have studied and implemented since last year would be the procurement efficiencies that we expect to gain through improved procurement processes, improvements in our procurement group's talent, and additions to the systems.  We expect to realize a total of $13.3 million for 2017 and $23.2 million for 2018, combining both OM&A and capital efficiency savings. 


We are also completing and are close to finalizing a very extensive review of opportunities related to our IT operations and, at the time of the rate filing, had identified a total of almost $8 million in efficiencies for the two years.  


These are only the start.  We do expect that we should be able to continue to drive increased and sustainable savings for several years to come.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Vels, one of the objectives stated in the application concerns Hydro One becoming more commercially oriented. 


Can you discuss that objective in the context of the recent changes made to Hydro One's corporate governance and senior management?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  It is a term that we have coined internally, and, as we discussed at the presentation day, the CEO, Mr. Smith, confirmed that our goal is to transform Hydro One to achieve its vision of becoming a best in class, customer centric, commercial entity, with a culture of continuous improvement and excellence in execution. 


Commercial orientation, as we define it and communicate it internally and externally, really means that the company must be excellent in all facets of its operations.  In particular, that means it needs to be very focused on customer needs and preferences, demonstrate corporate accountability for outcomes, particularly performance outcomes, and drive company-wide efficiency and productivity.  Understanding customer needs and preferences and delivering transmission outcomes that are valued by our customers are critical to our future success.  Our executive leadership and the board of directors are committed to building a strong performance culture in this business, including the ability to measure and track performance.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Vels, one of the topics that has come up in the context of this proceeding has been the Auditor General's report that was released on December 2nd, 2015, and I am wondering if you could provide an update on the steps that Hydro One has taken since the issuance of that report and its recommendations. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes, I can.  That report was issued just as the company was transitioning from a government-owned entity to a publicly-traded company.  At the time of the issuance of that report, management and the board of directors reviewed it carefully, and we did a number of things following that. 


Firstly, we directed our management to investigate, study, and follow up on all of the items that are included in that report.  We instructed them to use it as a guide to continuous improvement and to report back to us on the changes that they had made where they agreed with recommendations in that report and, where they did not make changes, to explain why that hadn't occurred. 


Further to that, we, at the time, had just hired a new leader of our internal audit division and have been strengthening that division.  We directed the leader of our internal audit division, who reports to our audit committee, to oversee that process and provide the board with a report specifically on the progress of our management towards dealing with all of the recommendations in that report.  


I did check in with our internal audit group recently, and they are progressing well and should be ready to finalize a report to our board early in 2017.  Of roughly the 71 tasks that were outlined in the AG report, 39, we believe, are complete; another 10 are substantially complete; 13 are under way; one is still in process and relates to long-term reliability targets; and eight have completion dates that are a little further into the future, but will be covered as part of that report. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Vels.  


Mr. Huber, turning to you, can you please summarize the relief that you are seeking from the Board in this application?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, I can.  I refer to the revisions that we made to Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, our executive summary, and also to the updates we provided in the technical conference as Exhibit E-2-1-1.

The key elements of our request are a rates revenue requirement of $1.511 billion for 2017, and $1.589 billion for 2018.  We are also seeking an approval of the proposed transmission scorecard, approval of a continuation of the regulatory accounts, and disposition of the net credit balance of $95.6 million. 


Regarding our ask for comparison, the rates revenue requirement reflects a 2.1 per cent increase on a year‑over-year basis for 2017 and a 5.2 per cent increase for 2018.  When taking the load forecast into consideration, the resulting average transmission rate increases are 4.2 per cent in 2017 and 5.2 per cent in 2018.  


And, finally, translating the total bill impact of these changes for transmission connected customers, that impact is expected to be about 0.3 per cent in each of the two test years.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Hubert, can you summarize the consultation programs that Hydro One has typically taken for purposes of preparing a rates revenue requirement application?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Certainly.  Historically, our focus has been on stakeholder consultation, and, by “stakeholders,” we have meant including board staff and parties who have previously intervened in prior Hydro One rate applications. 


In the case of the transmission rate application, we have, on occasion, also provided updates to transmission‑connected customers and to a customer advisory board.  Stakeholder consultation is conducted primarily to inform and update key stakeholders about Hydro One's transmission business and to share with them the approaches and inputs that we use to develop the revenue requirement.  Stakeholder consultation is also a forum for us to receive input and feedback on outstanding issues and our implementation of previous board directives arising from prior applications. 


So, for example, in the case of this particular application that is before the Board, the total cost benchmarking study by Navigant and first quartile and also the proposed transmission scorecard are two examples where input and feedback was provided from stakeholders. 


The total cost benchmarking study, by the way, arose from our last application before the Board as part of our settlement agreement.  And the scorecard, of course, is a new filing requirement for transmitters. 


I would add that discussions and sessions with First Nations have occurred in one prior rate application in the past 11 years, and this was noted in the evidence put forward by Anwaatin.


The circumstances surrounding that process were unique and were intended to address new major transmission development projects that were under consideration at that time.  No comparable such development projects form part of this current application.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Hubert, did you follow this approach with respect to this application? 

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, we did.  But we also did more than that.  One of our main objectives in this application is to make a concerted shift towards the OEB's renewed regulatory framework, the RRFE, and this is a new standard that will apply to Hydro One transmission going forward.  As Mr. Vels has said, customer focus is taking on a greater importance at Hydro One as we move towards becoming a more commercially-oriented entity.  

Given these factors, Hydro One has designed and carried out a separate customer engagement program, which is documented in our application in Exhibit B-1, tab 2, Schedule 2, and the purpose of that program was to seek information about our transmission-connected customers’ needs and preferences to inform our plan. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Hubert, let's turn to the topic of First Nations' engagement.

Were the First Nations, including those represented by Anwaatin Inc., included in the consultation process leading up to this application?  

     MR. HUBERT:  No, they were not. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  And why not, sir? 

     MR. HUBERT:  As I mentioned, our stakeholder consultation process is based on the participation of parties who participated in Hydro One's prior transmission rate proceedings.  So neither Anwaatin nor the First Nations it represents participated as intervenors in those proceedings.


However, using the same approach that I outlined earlier, all parties that are involved in this current proceeding will be invited to participate in stakeholder consultation processes for the next transmission application, and, as such, Anwaatin will be included as well.  


Regarding the customer engagement program, as opposed to the stakeholder consultation, again, this program was deliberately focused on the needs and preferences of our transmission customers, and when I refer to transmission customers, I am being quite precise by using the definition of such customers as defined in the transmission system code, namely, generators, consumers, distributors, or unlicensed transmitters whose facilities are connected to the transmission system.  So Hydro One Transmission's directly connected customers do not include end users of distributors.


Having said all that, Anwaatin has been recognized as an intervenor in this proceeding, and the Board's process, we believe, has provided an effective way for these issues to be presented and considered and for Hydro One, as the applicant, to respond to them, which we will be pleased to do.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Penstone, turning to you, sir, can you briefly summarize Hydro One's investment planning process evidence?

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  Hydro One's investment planning process was used to develop the transmission system plan outlined in Exhibit B-1-1-1.  An overview of the investment planning process we used to establish the transmission system plan is found in Exhibit B-1-2-7.


The transmission system plan is based upon the outcome of our asset risk assessment, customer consultation, prioritization, and enterprise engagement processes.  The resulting reliability risk, as described in Exhibit B-1-2-4 of the transmission system plan, was assessed to verify its outcome.  It confirmed that the transmission system plan addresses the concerns we heard from our customers, particularly, that they do not want reliability risk of Hydro One's transmission network to increase.


Customers were also very clear that power quality issues and momentary service disruptions cost them time and money.  Although the plan does not have explicit capital investments to address power quality, our approach to address this concern is to improve our ability to collect and assess data to confirm the source and magnitude of a power quality event and identify remedial actions.  These remedial actions may be required within Hydro One's network or the customer's own premises.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Penstone, what significant changes have been made to develop Hydro One's current investment plan?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  As Mr. Vels and Mr. Hubert have already referred to, a customer engagement process was undertaken.  This ensured customers' needs and preferences informed the development of the transmission plan.


We also developed and used the reliability risk model as an outcome measure tool.  We improved our analytics to identify the source and remediation for unreliability, and we have completed the transition to integrated station investments.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Penstone, can you describe the types of sustainment capital investments that are proposed to be carried out during the test years?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  Station investments are proposed to continue, to be made at approximately the same level as the 2015 and '16 expenditures, as noted in Exhibit D-1-3-2, Table 1.


Also, as discussed in this exhibit, the transmission plan includes increased investments above historical levels in the lines categories.  These investments are required to replace transmission line insulators which are in deteriorated condition and that pose both reliability and safety risks.

Additional investments in the lines category are also required to refurbish end-of-life conductors whose condition has been validated through laboratory testing of conductor samples.


And, thirdly, the lines category also includes new investments to apply zinc protective coatings to aged steel towers in corrosive environments to extend their asset life in a cost-efficient manner and mitigate future rate impacts.


Our approach in making integrated station investments achieves planning efficiencies in the following fashions.  It enables stations to be reconfigured when they are being refurbished to reduce the amount of major power equipment within the refurbished environment.  This will reduce capital costs and long-term operation and maintenance expenditures.  


Secondly, integrated station investments enables us to reduce the number of planned outages necessary to accomplish the work.  This reduces the risk of customer interruptions and contributes to increased customer satisfaction. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Penstone, I mentioned to the Panel that you will be appearing also on the investment planning panel as well.  And just can you confirm that more detailed matters about the investment plans will be matters that you are prepared to address as part of that separate panel?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, I can confirm that. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  


Ms. Cheung, turning to you now and with respect to income tax changes resulting from privatization.  Now, this was a topic that the Board highlighted in Procedural Order 3, and I am wondering if you could please summarize the main factors that have given rise to the changes in income tax resulting from privatization. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I can summarize those changes. 


There are three main factors.  First, the Province previously owned 100 per cent of the outstanding shares of Hydro One.  When the Province decided to sell more than 10 per cent of its interest in Hydro One, it changed the Hydro One's federal non-taxable status and the application of provincial PILs regime.  Hydro One will now be subject to tax under the federal tax regime. 


Second, the change from the non-taxable to taxable status was not a change in tax law; it was application of those laws.  Under the regulation to the Electricity Act, Hydro One became liable to pay a departure tax.  That amount of this cost was 2.6 billion.


The tax obligation was a direct result of the Province's decision to sell its interest in Hydro One.  It did not relate in any way of -- related to the regulated services which Hydro One provides to its customers.  For this reason, no portion of the departure tax is being recovered or included in Hydro One's revenue requirement.


Third, when a corporation ceases to be exempt from tax, a deemed disposition is triggered under the provisions of the Federal Income Tax Act.  Hydro One is deemed to dispose and reacquire its asset at fair market value.  This deemed disposition triggered a tax obligation on a difference between the fair market value and the tax costs of the assets.


From a tax perspective, this also means that Hydro One's assets was revalued at fair market value.  It will now become the new tax costs of its asset for which capital cost allowance is calculated and deducted.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Ms. Cheung, did the disposition of the Province's shares result in Hydro One actually making a payment for the departure tax obligation?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, it did.  Payment of this amount was made to the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation, the OEFC.  Importantly, when payments are made to the OEFC they are directed to a specific purpose, namely, the retirement of provincial long-term debt.


Prior to the transaction, when Hydro One was under the PILs regime, PILs payments were made to the OEFC.  Subsequent to the IPO, Hydro One is no longer subject to PILs of corporate income tax, so the departure tax may be viewed as a lump sum of the future PILs that the OEFC would have received if the IPO did not occur.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Vels, with regards to financing the departure tax obligation, can you discuss what options Hydro One had to finance that $2.6 billion obligation?  

     MR. VELS:  Sure.  At the outset, it's important that we understand that the departure tax was only one of the costs that Hydro One incurred at the time of the IPO.  For example, we also incurred costs associated with the payment of a special dividend, and these costs were financed by incurrence of additional debt.  


With respect to the departure tax, there were only three potential options:  firstly, a recovery in rates; secondly, raise debt to finance the payment; or, third, arrange for a shareholder contribution. 


Option one was rejected because of cost causation principles.  Again, the cost was caused by the IPO.  It's really unrelated to regulatory services provided by the company and, as such, would have been inappropriate to request recovery of this amount in customer revenues. 


Option 2 was also rejected because, by doing so, it would have significantly affected the valuation of the company.  As you recall, this was being done at a time when the market was valuing the shares to be sold in the market.  Incurrence of a significant amount of debt required to finance the departure tax payment would have caused a significantly lower recovery for the shareholder when those shares were sold in the market because of the higher leverage levels. 


Option 3 was selected because the shareholder could take steps to protect the valuation of Hydro One shares and thus avoid the adverse valuation result.  However, this still meant that the shareholder incurred a cost, because it had to raise the necessary funds and make a contribution equal to the departure tax payment, and, in return, it received additional shares in the company.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, panel, were the proceeds of the departure tax used to fund the shareholder's investment?  Ms. Cheung?

     MS. CHEUNG:  No.  The payment of the departure tax was used to pay down debt by the OEFC.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Vels, the evidence is that Hydro One incurred a $2 billion cost.  Is it also the case that the shareholder has incurred a cost?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  The shareholder incurred a cost because it was required to maintain its valuation in the shares by contributing an amount into the company equivalent to cover the expense of the departure tax.  


As a result, it no longer had access the that cash, and it was unable to use it for different purposes.  They will be able to, and we expect they will, recover part of that cost in the future as they sell the shares at a higher valuation than would otherwise have been the case if they had not recapitalized the company. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now let's turn to capital cost allowance, Ms. Cheung.  Will the change in CCA reduce Hydro One's future tax obligations?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.  The CCA is an allowable tax deduction that reduces taxable income, which results in lower income tax obligations.  The increase in this deduction arises because Hydro One was no longer a tax‑exempt entity under the Federal Income Tax Act, and, as such, its assets were deemed to be acquired at fair market value.  

The increased deduction is a benefit to Hydro One.  However, this benefit follows from the costs incurred, which resulted from the shareholder's decision to sell a portion of its ownership to the public market.  It is this decision that caused Hydro One to no longer have a non‑taxable status under the Federal Income Tax Act, so these concepts, the IPO, the cost to finance, and payment of the departure tax were all linked costs and relate to the benefits of the increase in CCA deduction.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  Ms. Cheung, why is the increase in CCA not reflected in the revenue requirement that's been applied for in this application?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  The principle that Hydro One has applied is that all costs and all benefits arising from the IPO are to the company's account.  Hydro One is not seeking the recovery from the ratepayer of any costs associated with the IPO, so the departure tax is not being recovered in rates.  Similarly, the fair market value bump does not affect the accounts and balances upon which rates are set.  Rates remain calculated using historical net book value.  Since ratepayers are not incurring costs of the IPO, the benefits of those transactions, like the deferred tax asset, are also not being included in the Hydro One's rates.  


The principles that we are following here are Hydro One's transmission remains regulated on a standalone basis and that benefit should follow costs.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Now, in the Board Staff's Interrogatory 134, Hydro One was referred to the RP-2004-0188 decision, which is entitled:

“The Report of the Board on the 2006 Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook”
And, Mr. Vels, do you believe the circumstances in that case are similar to the ones now before the Board?  

     MR. VELS:  No.  We believe there are significant factual differences.  In the case of Hydro One, the shareholder has incurred a real cost, as we discussed earlier.  In the RP 2004-0188 decision, the Board disregarded the regulatory principle that benefits follow costs. 


In 2001, the Ministry of Finance required the revaluation of assets to fair market value.  The tax bump in that circumstance is due to the introduction of the PILs regime.  The shareholder had not incurred a cost, and, thus, the benefits did not accrue to the shareholder.  The Board decided in that case to allocate those windfall benefits to the ratepayers. 


The obligation to pay the amount is due to the application of existing tax laws and tax regimes.  The deemed disposition laws applied when there was a change in the taxpayer's taxable status. 

So Hydro One has incurred a real cost and paid $2.6 billion to the OEFC.  In contrast, in RP 2004-0188, there was no similar cost payment.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, panel.

Mr. Chairman, those are my questions for direct evidence.  This panel is available for cross-examination now.
     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  I have one question for Mr. Vels, if I might at this time. 
Questions by the Board:

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vels, you've provided the status of the business plan business, its development, and, if I understand correctly, there is a draft business plan that will be going to the board of directors and is expected to be approved, or at least will be before the board on December 2nd and will be -- the company's intent is to file it as evidence here at that time.  

     MR. VELS:  No, that was not our intent.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  

     MR. VELS:  But we would be prepared to do so. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  If I understand the background information you provided, what we have before us in this application is reflective of the business plan, and that it's one and the same and that the business plan that is likely going to the board is an articulation of those efforts and initiatives that are reflected in this plan -- or your application, rather. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes, that is correct. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Is there anything that, then, is stopping the company -- or what is the harm in filing the draft business plan with us at this point?  

     MR. VELS:  Our preference, in terms of following the governance of the company, would be to allow the board the opportunity to review and approve the business plan and provide an approved business plan to this hearing. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  I recognize the formation of the new company, the privatization, the governance reassembling itself around the new company puts it out of order, and your evidence this morning provided us with an overview of how it would be put back in sync, if I can  paraphrase your comments. 


But recognizing all that, if the application before us is, as you’ve put it, reflected of the business plan, the Board has -- our Board, this Board, has stated the importance it places on business plan as being the articulation of what motivates the company, why it's doing what it's doing, and what its focus is on.  What we are hoping to be able to see -- and if it is filed on December 2nd -- is that articulation.


What I am looking at is, from a very practical sense, this panel is not coming back after the 2nd.  If there is anything in that business plan that we or any of the intervenors have questions or gives rise to any questions, that looking at the application and how it's articulated in the business plan -- and maybe to you, Mr. Nettleton, would this panel be available to address any of those questions?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Chairman, certainly, if matters arose out of evidence that was filed and you required this panel to revisit -- to come back, I think the answer is that it would.  I think that may be a way to mitigate the issue or resolve the issue of ensuring that Hydro One's corporate governance principle that Mr. Vels just testified to of ensuring that business plans that are put in the public domain have been reviewed and been approved by the board of directors and that, you know, to test the proposition that Mr. Vels has now stated very clearly that the plan reflects the application, I think that that could certainly be something that could be dealt with through re-examination of the panel if necessary. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, we are not going to rule on that at this point, but I just wanted to recognize or understand whether or not the panel would be available, and if others are -- want to convince the Board otherwise, we are open to those arguments, but recognizing that the intent is to have it filed on December 2nd and that this panel may be available for questions if any arise from having that filed. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  I can't -- I mean, speaking for my panel -- and maybe Mr. Vels would like to chime in -- but, you know, I think that, if the Board demanded or required or parties made compelling arguments to say that we do have reasons that the normal process would be for a panel, any panel, to come back and be available, and I think, based on the amount of hearing time that we have, I think that's quite possible.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, yeah, I looked through.  We have an additional five days afterwards, so I just wanted to have that established as an understanding for others to recognize in their questioning as to what may or may not be in that business plan.  


Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton. 


Mr. -- oh...

     MR. BRETT:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I could ask you a small question here.  This was a pretty extensive examination-in-chief, and I notice that the executives were reading a text -- from a text that had been prepared.  It is transcribed, but I wonder:  There are a lot of people here today that may want to be -- that will cross-examine on these issues, particularly the tax issue.  I wonder if there is any way that the company might be able to file at the break a copy of that document that they were reading from. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Nettleton?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah.  I think one of two things, and subject to discussion with the court reporter.  I don't know if it's possible to get excerpts of the transcript made available so that, Mr. Brett, that we would have actually what was on the record for you available, but I am seeing some nods from the court reporter, and that may be the best way to deal with it. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Would that be satisfactory, Mr. Brett?  Thank you.  

     MR. VELS:  Mr. Chair, I do want to just make the point that I didn't actually read my notes, so my notes -- because my notes will almost certainly be different to the transcription. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  No.  And I think, providing that we can have the transcription available, that's all that will be required, Mr. Vels.  Thank you.


Okay.  Dr. Elsayed, you have a question?
     DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah.  I just need to clarify something about the business plan question.  You had a draft in 2005 of a business plan, and I think, Mr. Vels, you mentioned that it was reviewed exhaustively and revised, and the business plan before your board today.  I am assuming it’s not the same as the draft that you had in 2005; is that correct?  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  2005 or 2015, Mr. --

     DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry, 2015. 

     MR. VELS:  That is correct.  It has been altered --

     DR. ELSAYED:  So when you mention the executive summary of your application reflects the key elements of the business plan, which business plan are you talking about?  The 2015 one?  

     MR. VELS:  So the 2015 draft business plan that had been prepared by the company was the base that we used to then further our investigations, and particularly in the areas of reliability, risk, productivity, efficiency, and customer engagement, which was not something that had been included in that original plan.  


Given that we needed to file the application in May, we elected to include all of the components of what would have been in the revised business plan into the transmission rate application, including those elements of productivity, efficiency, strategy, business goals, scorecard, customer engagement.  So we felt that the application effectively included all of the facets and the elements that the handbook set out should be included in a high-quality business plan. 


But we didn't, at that time, prepare a separate business plan for approval by the board.  We elected to return to our usual cycle and agreed with the board that we would provide them with both a distribution and a transmission business plan in December for their approval. 


But the board did review extensively, actually, the materials included in the transmission rate application that is before you today.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  And how frequently do you update your business plan?  

     MR. VELS:  Once a year.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  Once a year.  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Elsayed.  

Okay.  Mr. Rubenstein, I believe you are up first. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I just wanted to know when the board wanted to take its morning break. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Probably about 11:15 or so, Mr. Rubenstein. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Panel, I've provided a compendium of documents.  I don't know if you have them.  They were provided this morning on the desk of your counsel. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I propose to mark that as an exhibit, and it would be K1.3, the SEC compendium for panel 1.

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Millar. 

Exhibit NO. K1.3:  SEC compendium for Panel 1
     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does the panel have it?  They don't seem to have it.  I...

     MR. HUBERT:  I do not have the compendium.  I do have the evidence, but I do not have a compendium. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think it's sitting in front of Mr. Nettleton. 

     MR. VELS:  I do have.  I am just looking for it. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's a compendium of documents on the record as well as some documents that are not on the record, but I provided to Mr. Nettleton and Hydro One on Tuesday.  


If we can turn -- and there is an electronic copy that I have provided to Hydro One. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein, could you adjust the mic to get a little louder?  Thank you. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  


Panel, if we could turn to page 2.  I just want to start off at the beginning.  Just take a look at what you are asking for. 


Am I correct, this is the updated revenue requirement table from the evidence?  This is the ask that you are seeking for?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I look at it, you are seeking -- and I think you talked about this -- on a total revenue requirement basis, in 2017, $1.613 billion and $1.691 billion in 2018?  It's a total revenue requirement basis?  It's the fifth line on that chart?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then when we get to the rates revenue requirement, so taking into account the external revenues and export credit and some other adjustments, 2017, you are seeking 1.511 billion and, 2018, 1.589 billion; correct?  

     MR. HUBERT:  That is correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we look at what's driving the increase in the revenue requirement from what was approved in 2016, am I correct that it's primarily capital related?  It's a capital-driven application?  

     MR. HUBERT:  As noted in line 12, there are a number of factors that contribute to that, largely attributable to impact of rate base growth, but there are also income taxes and some other factors noted in that exhibit. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  A lot of that relates to capital, the income taxes, depreciation? 

     MR. HUBERT:  That's correct.  That's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, since your last application -- and this was obviously discussed in your examination-in-chief -- there have been a number of changes to the company.  The province is in the process of selling its stake in Hydro One, and am I correct, at this time, they have sold 30 per cent off?  Do I have that correct, at this time? 

     MR. VELS:  Slightly less. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So slightly less than 30 per cent? 

     MR. VELS:  About 29 per cent, I think. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understand one of the impacts of the initial public offering and the privatizing of Hydro One is that the shareholder directives from the province have now been rescinded.  

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  The company is operated as a fully independent commercial entity. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Previously, if I recall, there were restrictions on if you were allowed to outsource out of the country.  Those sorts of things have now been removed?  

     MR. VELS:  You are correct in that there are no directives in place. 

     MR. VELS:  And you talked about, in the application and this morning, that you're moving to a more commercial orientation.  Am I correct?  

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is new.  I take it from what you said this morning and in the application, this is a new thing that has been -- how you have articulated what that means, that’s a new thing, this commercial orientation. 

     MR. VELS:  It's -- I think it would be fair to say that the management and the board are new, and so we are articulating and communicating our philosophy as to how a successful and well-functioning business should be run.  

And the backgrounds of the CEO, management, and myself, in particular, is -- it's been natural for us to talk about continuous improvement, productivity, efficiency measurement, scorecards, KPIs, and customer needs and preferences, and that's what we have defined as a commercial entity.  A well-functioning commercial entity needs to be very good in all of those aspects.  So, as we came into Hydro One, that was clearly outlined and stated across our company as an expectation. 

That, of course, doesn't mean that none of those elements existed within the company.  There are some very high-performing and very good people and processes within the company.  We believe, believed then and continue to believe now, that all of those processes and approaches at the company can be better, and we have termed that as transforming this company into a commercial entity that is excellent in all facets of its operation. 


So it's not -- I wouldn't -- I wouldn't call it a complete change in the company.  It's a transformation to a better-performing and improved company. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the fact that you are -- you have moved from a fully government-owned to a privately-owned company, that's really not what's driving it.  It's that you now have -- I am paraphrasing -- a better board and a better management team, and they are driving it.  

It has nothing to do with necessarily -- it may be a result of the privatization that there is now a better board, but that's not inherent to the fact of the ownership structure. 

     MR. VELS:  Well, the facts are that the government was -- sorry, the company was owned by the government.  The government chose to privatize it by selling 30 per cent of its shares.  A new board was appointed.  New management was hired, and we are making some changes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, then, if we turn to page 22 -- and I apologize, there will be some flipping around -- this is from your previous application to the Board in that proceeding.  

This is the EB-2016-0140, and these were your five-year goals with Hydro One Networks Inc. and the strategic objectives, and when I look at the bottom, the second from the bottom, it says:

“Maintaining a commercial culture that increases value for shareholder.”

I see the word “commercial.”  Is that the same thing we were talking about here, when you use the term “commercial”? 

     MR. VELS:  I am not sure that I can say and confirm with any reasonable confidence that the way the company used to communicate and use that word is the same as we do. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when you came to the company and the new management team and they were looking at the new strategic objectives, the new values that you want to instil, obviously I would have assumed you looked at the old ones, and you wanted to make them better. 


What has changed?  What was it in the last previous application, or the last formation of this company, that you said are just not adequate enough?  

     MR. VELS:  Probably the most significant difference that I would point to is the customer focus.  It is different.  The board looks at and monitors the impacts on our customers differently from the way it was previously done.  So whilst the company certainly had and continues to have a strategic objective of satisfying our customers, there are many activities in place.  We feel that it can do better and we can improve our customers' understanding of their power usage, improve their ability to deal with their bills, deal with issues that they have raised around reliability and quality in a more structured and cohesive way throughout the company. 


So we have hired new senior executives that are responsible for specifically the customer experience.  We are in the process of investing money to improve our customers' experience and improve their ability to deal with their bills. 


The board has customer on its agenda at every meeting, and it's the first item on its agenda.  It has charged management to take whatever is in place in the company and materially improve it as it relates to customers.  That would be one difference.  

A second would be the focus on efficiency and productivity.  This company has and continues to have efficiency initiatives.  We feel, particularly transitioning from a wholly-owned government organization to a private entity, that there are improvements in processes in systems that can be made to even further increase efficiencies and productivity in the company.  

Those would be two of the most significant, I'd say, focuses and changes that we are in the process of making in the company. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as the company -- as you were saying, you’re currently at 29 per cent owned by non-government entity, and that's going to increase as it moves to 60 per cent over the next couple years.  Is there a difference in how private shareholders view your company and expect from your company than the government as a private shareholder?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, there is.  Our shareholders have expressed to us that they believe we are going to drive more productivity and efficiency in the company.  And given the regulatory frameworks that are in place, particularly in the distribution business, our distribution business, we will be filing next year an incentive rate filing.  They do believe that, if we are successful in changing our processes and improving the efficiencies in the company, the regulatory framework is designed to reward both customers and the company when we are successful in those types of initiatives. 

So that's certainly one of the areas they believe it will be different. 

However, they do understand, and we do regularly inform them, that rates are set by the OEB, and the fact that we are now a private company does not change that.  There is the same rigor and the same focus put on our rate requests now as there was before.  The OEB is an independent body, and they do understand that there is not a change and cannot be a change in the rate-setting process just because the company is now 30 per cent owned by people who are not the government. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And besides productivity -- you say they want to see more productivity -- is there anything else that -- they are recognizing the Board ultimately sets the rates, but is there anything more what they are expecting from you in your applications to the Board, do you think?  

     MR. VELS:  To some extent, they do take our lead in terms of what we have explained to them will be different.  So we have explained to our shareholders that we do believe that, particularly in an era of rapidly rising electricity rates, it is very, very important that the management of the company fully demonstrates an ability to drive efficiencies and reduce its OM&A and mitigate the impact of the necessity of investment in electricity system on customer rates. 


So they are anticipating and expecting, and they have already heard from us, that our focus on customers, on the customer bill, and the necessity to ensure that we are seen -- at the same time that we are investing in the system that we are seen to be actively reducing OM&A, in particular, to mitigate that effect is really important.  And we expect that they should be able to judge us on that. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You are talking a lot about OM&A, but this application and the, you know, the other half of the business is capital.  Is there any expectations about capital?  

     MR. VELS:  Expectations?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you are talking about they want to -- they are looking for productivity savings and OM&A.  I am asking now -- and you have talked a lot about OM&A, but I haven't heard you talk about capital.  Is there any expectation, difference, in how either side looks at capital investments?  The amount?  The type? 

     MR. VELS:  Oh, I see what you mean.  No.  I think shareholders look at capital the same way now as they would have looked at it before had they owned the company, so they will factor in expected future capital expenditures and changes in the rate base.


They do understand the differences in the growth of that rate base yield difference outcomes from an earnings per share perspective, but I think they would value the company the same way now as they would before.  I am not sure if that was exactly your question, but... 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you have talked about the planning process and how you were working on a business plan in 2015, and then there were some new executives and new board, and they sort of wanted to look at the whole process again. 


Am I understanding that, in the last few months, you have made significant changes to your management team?  You have a new chief operating officer, who was hired in September, a new executive vice-president of strategy and corporate development, new executive VP in legal affairs, a new executive vice-president, customer affairs, and I actually think I saw a press release -- I subscribe to your e-mail list -- that there is a new human resources executive vice-president, all in the last two, three months?  Am I correct about that?  

     MR. VELS:  Partly.  So you are correct that we have appointed new executives to all of those positions except for human resources.  The announcement that you are referring to was the appointment of an existing person, Judy McKellar, to the position of executive vice-president of human resources, and she was with the company, so she is not a new appointment. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So with -- just so I understand, is the chief operating officer -- are they responsible for the capital planning, the asset management, the operating of the system?  

     MR. VELS:  Amongst other things, yes.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, in 2005, you started on a new process.  New executives, essentially say, “We need to look at things,: and now here we are.  A couple months ago, you have transformed the management team, someone who is now responsible for the asset management and the asset planning.


Why are we not saying, “We need to look at things again”?  Why aren't we making the same sort of pause so this new team can look at the plans and determine if they are appropriate using their expertise, which I am assuming they are bringing to the table?  That's why you have hired them.

     MR. VELS:  I presume you are referring to the changes we made in 2015, not 2005. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  

     MR. VELS:  I couldn't talk to those.  We don't believe there is any necessity to do that.  The board, myself, the CEO, the new board, and the existing management, including Mr. Penstone, spent a very material amount of time investigating and determining potential improvements in the company between -- in that period I referred to between December and May.  The recent appointments, particularly of the chief operating officer and the customer officer, are a reflection of what we felt is a necessity to have very, very strong leaders who can execute these plans and achieve the goals and the outcomes that we have in the transmission plan before you and in our distribution business plan that's currently in preparation. 


So it's not a case of bringing in a new management or new operating management to change the business.  It's bringing in talented individuals who can execute our plans.


And if you'd allow me, moving on, the customer officer would be a great example of that too.  We have some very ambitious plans, very ambitious plans, to improve the experience of our customers across the system, both transmission and distribution.


We felt that we needed a very talented and senior individual who could lead that, and he is responsible in addition to customers for First Nations as well.  He does have an experience of leading these types of initiatives and being successful at them.


So it's more a case of hiring talent who can execute on these plans as opposed to an expectation that it would be a complete change again.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Because the senior management team that's been in place since 2015 has set the plan, or they have taken the leadership in setting --

     MR. VELS:  We have taken the leadership.  The board's reviewed it.  We spent an exhaustive amount of time working immediately after the IPO to ascertain what we believe was the right direction for the company.  The board is aligned to it.  And now we are filling in the talent that's required to achieve it. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But am I correct that yourself and Mr. Schmidt, CEO, your background, though, is not in electricity distribution or transmission?  

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so with the new chief operating officer, who my understanding is -- has significant experience, has a very significant résumé, you know, you wouldn't say to him, “Look at our plans with your experience and determine if there needs to be any changes.”
     MR. VELS:  Well, he did have an opportunity to review and discuss with us in a very exhaustive interview process what our plans and our goals for the company are, and, in fact, he was hired based on our conclusion that, in fact, he would be able to do so.


You know, having said that, utilities -- and he has a very deep utility experience.  His feedback to us is, well, these are exactly the sorts of things that successful utilities throughout North America do focus on.  He is completely comfortable with our goals and objectives, and he believes that he can achieve them. 


Now, is he making some changes?  Yes, he is.  He would like to change certain of the systems and certain of the measurements and certain of the processes that we have in the business to improve them.  And I think it would be fair to say that that's going to be a steady diet for this company over the next decade.


Both Mr. Schmidt, myself, the new chief operating officer, the chief customer officer have a culture of continuous improvement.  We all ran CEI groups, Six Sigma groups, you know, in our shared services groups in our prior experience.  We know that you can improve businesses every year.  That doesn't mean that the business was really bad the previous year.  It just means it can be better next year. 


So, you know, those people have been hired with specific skills in mind to improve the business.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you. 


I am wondering if we can take the break now.  I am entering into a lengthy area, so it will be helpful. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.  Let's break until 11:25.  Thank you. 

--- Recess taken at 11:06 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:27 a.m. 
     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, please be seated. 

Just before you start, Mr. Rubenstein, I understand provisions have been made to have the transcript from the session this morning distributed.  I suppose, if you are on that list, you now have it from this morning, if people want to make use of it.  Thank you.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  I want to talk about how you have approached this application, and, as I have read the evidence and we have talked already this morning, that the major driver -- we talked about capital as the major driver of this application.

Am I correct that the focus with respect to capital spending for the test period 2017/18 is sustainment capital spending?  Am I correct about that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  There is elements of development spending as well. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you say it's primarily sustainment? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  The sustainment expenditures are greater than the development expenditures. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When we talk about sustainment spending, Hydro One uses a different vocabulary than the Board in its filing guidelines, so I just want to understand what we mean by sustainment.

Are we talking about what the Board's filing guidelines usually refers to as system renewal spending? How would you define sustainment?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Renewing the performance of existing assets -- sorry, let me rephrase that.  Renewing existing assets to maintain performance levels.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that would be similar to system renewal spending, using the Board's nomenclature?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I believe it is.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you. So if we turn to page 9 of the compendium, and this is -- and the table 5 is a summary of the transmission capital budget from 2012 to 2021.  It includes historic, the bridge, the test years, and the forecast broken down into your four major categories. 


And if we can see under “Sustainment Capital,” we are seeing significant increases over time.  Do you agree with me there?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, for example, in 2012, you were spending just under $390 million, and that brought up to in the bridge – sorry, in 2015, $694 million, and then, in the test years, $770 million and $842 million -- in fact, it's going to get even higher after this test period; correct?


By 2021, you are proposing to spend, based on this plan, $1.12 billion a year on sustainment transmission spending.  Am I correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So by the time -- so you'll almost double your sustainment capital budget.  In fact, you are multiple times -- sorry, I apologize. 


With respect to your total budget, you going to almost double your capital budget from the $776 million in 2012 to $1.475 million in 2021; correct?  So the total budget is going to, over that period of time, is going to almost double?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That is our current forecast.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And with respect to sustaining spending, almost three times as much from 2012 to 2021?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I will accept your arithmetic.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And while there is a focus on sustainment spending in this application, am I correct that there was a similar focus in the last application for the 2015 and 2016 years?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  The last application paid particular attention to sustainment activities required for stations.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it was still a sustainment-focused application?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Again, sustainment was also complemented by development expenditures as well.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we turn to page 23?  This is from that application, and you say:

“Sustainment capital spending increases significantly in the 2013 to 2015 period to deal with the continued growth in the number of assets that are beyond expected life and require replacement to maintain the system performance at acceptable levels."


Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then development, you talk about how it's going to decline over the ten-year -- this is the bullet point below:

“Development expenditures are generally declining over the ten-year period as large projects, such as Bruce to Milton and other projects, to accommodate renewal generation being completed.” 

Do you see that? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we flip over to page 24, you talk about the budget at line 8, and you say: 

“Overall capital expenditures remain flat in 2015 and decline over 2016 to 2019."

     Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do.  I want to ensure, though, that that statement is related to -- whether that statement is related to development activities or sustainment activities or both. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  While I see it says “overall capital expenditures,” it does say in the paragraph it is excluding some large projects, east-west tie, energy east, northwest bulk, and the GTA reactor project.  That's how I read this.  Am I not correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I read that paragraph to be focused specifically on development activities.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Really?  

MR. PENSTONE:  Well --
MR. RUBENSTEIN:   No, no.  Is that -- so line 8, where it says “overall capital expenditures,” you're -- I am not saying you are necessarily incorrect.  You think that's simply development expenditures. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  You know, I can't comment on that particular application.  The point that I am making is I have reservations in terms of whether that initial statement applies to the overall capital expenditures or whether it's limited to development capital, as the rest of the paragraph is focused entirely on development capital. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if we turn over to page 25 and 26, this was the -- this is, again, from that application.  This was the detailed transmission capital expenditure projection you had at that time for -- it goes back to actual budgets of 2014 through 2019.  Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, on page 26, the last line shows the numbers, the total transmission capital, what you had forecasted at that time.  Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we look at the chart on page 27, I’d ask you to turn there.  There’s two charts I have provided, and the numbers, the detailed numbers are on page 29 and the sources of that information.  

But simply, the first chart, if you look at the total capital budget, we see the red line which is what you're forecasting in this application as the longer-term forecast, including this application, and the blue line is what you said in the last application. 


You'd agree with me that there is a significant difference?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  There is a difference.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you not -- is it not fair to characterize that as a significant difference?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  The trouble with adjectives is it all depends on your perspective.  There is certainly a material difference between the two.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we turn to page 29, we could look at those numbers.  You can see those on line 22 through 24 of the chart.  This is just comparing those two numbers so you can see them right on top of each other, the actual numbers, lines 22 and 24.  

And, as I see it, in the last case, you said you needed to spend, in 2017 and 2018, $1.7 billion, approximately.  And, in this case, you are saying you need to spend $2.2 billion.  So that's a pretty significant difference.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you agree with that?  About a $500 million difference?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Mr. Rubenstein, can you just point me to the two figures that you just quoted?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I am taking on line 27 -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- sorry, I apologize.  On line 23, I am adding the 2017 and the 2018, so the 847.8 and the 838.4.  That's what you said in the last case.  And on the line 24, it's what you are saying in this case, what you are asking for, on what the capital expenditure requests that underlies your ask, and I am adding 10.76 and 11.22.  Do you see those numbers?

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's about a $500 million difference.  Do you accept that, subject to check? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  Yep. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we look back on page chart -- of the chart on page 27, I want to focus on sustainment spending.  It's the same thing as the chart above.  The blue is the last proceeding; the red is this proceeding. 


And, again, we are seeing a material difference in what you projected you were going to need over the long-term in that case, that was your plan at that time, versus what your plan is now.  Do you agree?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, again, if we look on page 29, we could look at the numbers.  It's the same thing.  I have about a $400 million difference in this -- what you're -- with respect to 2017 and 2018.  Would you take that subject to check? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, again, can you just direct me to the figures that enabled you to arrive at that figure -- 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I am looking on line 26 through 28.  


MR. PENSTONE:  All right. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So line 27 has the numbers from the 2014-014 application, the 597.4 and the 636.7 million, and then, on line 28, I have the numbers that -- in this application it's 776.8 and 842.1. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Okay. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I get about a $400 million difference.  Do you -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I see the big difference is the sustainment category.  It’s really what's driving the big differences between the forecast in the last proceeding and the forecast in this proceeding.  Is that correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We are forecasting -- well, clearly, the numbers, if they are accurate, confirm that.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we are looking at -- so help me understand what is causing this huge jump in what you originally said you were going to need over the longer term to now the need you see now.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, as I indicated in the examination‑in-chief, the greatest increase is as a result of additional sustainment capital spent on lines work, particularly -- specifically, the replacement of deteriorated or faulty insulators, the replacement of conductor, and the coating of towers.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 28, I've just -- this is a similar graph showing -- breaking down the sustainment into the stations and lines category, same basis.  Red is this application; blue is the last application; and the dotted line is the lines.


Is this what I am looking at here?  That's really gone up from what's going on in the last case.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So if you look at the dotted lines at the bottom, that represent lines cap ex.  Yes, you will see a significant increase.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And was it that at the last -- why at the last application were you not aware of these problems?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  The information related to the requirement to replace insulators was precipitated by an incident that occurred in March of 2015 where we had an insulator failure and a conductor subsequently fall over a public parking lot in the west end of Toronto.


The subsequent investigation of that incident revealed the shortcomings and deterioration in a class of insulators that had been installed over a number of years by Ontario Hydro.  These insulators are in such a state that they now have to be replaced, and they need to be replaced both from a reliability perspective, but also from a public health and safety perspective, as a number of our lines traverse public areas.  So that was what prompted the need to address insulators.


A second element of our -- or a second contribution to the increased lines cap ex was the need to replace end-of-life conductors.  Our conclusion about the need to replace those conductors was based upon laboratory tests of samples that have been taken from those circuits which confirmed that they were at their end of life and need to be replaced.


Now, Mr. Rubenstein, we can go in, in a lot of detail on this, in panel 5. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I expect we will, and we can save it. 


So just understanding at a high level, it's those reasons it has dramatically changed -- or that's my language -- at least using your language, materially changing the sustainment budgets. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, again, these applications and our plans are based upon the needs that we are aware of at the time.  I can only conclude that at the time that that previous application was made that they were unaware of those needs.  Those needs became apparent during my oversight of the planning group over the last couple of years.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understand the overarching reason for sustainment spending.  I mean, why you are doing this outside of -- I understand there are some safety elements -- is you want to maintain your top quartile reliability.  Do I understand that's an objective underlining the capital planning -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  No.  Actually, what we want to do is meet our customers' needs and expectations for the reliability services that we provide to them. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when I read on page 14 of the compendium, the first bullet point, where you talk about the outcomes of your plan and your customers, you say:

“Maintaining top quartile reliability by mitigating risks arising from asset deterioration.”

I took that -- and you can correct me if I am wrong -- that you want to maintain one of the -- your customers wanted, obviously, to maintain what you believe is your top quartile reliability. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Our customers were clear that they don't want to see an increase in reliability risk.  We are currently at the top quartile reliability performance in comparison to Canadian utilities.  By containing reliability risk, we'd expect to stay at that level. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me just ask you -- and I have a feeling we will talk about this also on the planning panel, but just at a high level, because it feeds into some of the panels between them -- what reliability risk is. 


I am going to tell you what I have understood, and you can correct me.  Am I correct that what it is, is, at a high level, it tells Hydro One essentially that, based on the age of your system, if we looked at -- and the -- and the failure rates of assets at any given age, if we looked at, for example lines, a kilometre of line at any given time, what is the percentage chance that it will fail in any given year?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So reliability risk is an outcome measure that measures what we expect to see under different investment scenarios.  It enables us to compare and contrast investment levels and investment levels on particular assets. 


The reliability risk model is described in our evidence.  If you give me a minute, I could get you the reference.  The model is described in Exhibit B-1, tab 2, Schedule 4. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am trying to understand.  Is it simply a comparative tool, or is it a -- or do you look at the absolute number?

So, for example, if we go to page 8 of my compendium, this is the relative change and reliability risk based on your investment proposal.  And so, as I understand, say, for lines -- what you are saying here is that, with our investments, we expect the relative change in reliability from whatever it would be to be 2 per cent lower?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the absolute number, though, that is changing in those two scenarios, am I correct that, at a high level, what it is saying is that, if we took a look at a kilometre of line, the absolute number is measured in --what is the percentage chance that an average of one of your lines will fail in a given year?  That's what I thought it meant.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, I think we are getting into levels of detail that are best addressed by panel 5 to get into the specifics of this.  


At a high level, though, the reliability risk model considers, based on the age of an asset, what is the risk that that asset will fail or be removed from service.  And that's reflected in the hazard curves.  We then consider the extent to which investments will adjust that hazard rate.  

We also consider the extent to which three types of equipment can contribute to unreliability:  transformers, lines, and breakers.  That's described in that particular exhibit, and, based on that, we are able to get a relative measure of the expected outcomes of different levels of investment on each of these assets on overall reliability risk.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I apologize.  I raised this issue now because this feeds into your application that you provided to your customers, the change you say they want -- I mean, that panels 2 and 3 are going to talk about customers’ views about reliability risk, so it's important to understand at the outset what we are talking about.

And I apologize.  It's not in my compendium, and I am not sure if it can be brought up easily, but if we can turn to Board Staff No. 15, which is Exhibit I, tab 1, Schedule 15.  If we can go to the chart on page 6, this is the derivation of the chart that we looked at in the compendium.
And, as I understood it, Mr. Penstone, what this is showing is that, for your lines in January 1st, 2017, based on the curves of your lines asset, there is a 1 per cent – a 1.056 per cent chance that, on average, one of your lines will fail in a given year, and that, at the end of the rate period, based on your investments in your lines, that is going to be reduced to 1.031 per cent.  And that's the negative to the reduction of 2 per cent.  Am I correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's the derivation of how we arrived at the reduced reliability risk at the investment levels that we are proposing for lines.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct about what the absolute number, though, represents?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So that, Mr. Rubenstein, I would defer to panel 5, to the people who are more expert in this particular -- on the reliability risk model.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Can I just, then, understand, though, what reliability risk doesn't tell you, though, is what -- well, obviously, if an asset fails, it has some effect on reliability.  

But it doesn't -- we can't draw a straight line between reliability risk and reliability -- am I correct -- because we don't know how many customers are connected to any given line, what type of redundancies, what type of circuit line it is.  Am I correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  It's correct that reliability to customers is based on a number of other factors beyond equipment performance.  Whether foreign interfere -- there are a number of different factors that contribute to unreliability. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But even failure of an asset, we can't draw a line, because we don’t know what -- even for lines, because we don't know how the system is configured at any given point, how many customers or connection points are connected to that line.  We couldn't tell from this metric.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So the impact of equipment failure depends on where that -- where you are in the province as it relates to lines.  And the reason for that is typically, in southern Ontario, our network has redundancy.  

When I say southern Ontario, it's everything south of Barrie.  Roughly north of Barrie, our network has limited redundancy and is predominantly radial in nature, where customers are fed by a single line and, consequently, that failure would actually cause an interruption. 


In southern Ontario, you have a situation where a piece of equipment can fail or a line can fail, and no interruption will occur.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, for example, with the change in reliability risk, because we don't know if you're -- the investments just from the metric are in the north or in the south.  We don't know what type of -- we can't provide a very precise idea of what the reliability impact will be on customers?  It's going to be different. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Again, this is a measure for the entire investment plan. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, as I take it, you agree with me?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Repeat your statement, please?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have to remember exactly how I phrased it. 


Based on this, because it's an overall metric, we cannot tell -- it doesn't tell us what the reliability is because a negative -- depending on where you are doing your assets, in the north it may be worse than in the south because, as you said, in the south, your system has more redundancies.  In the north, it's primarily a radial system. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  So this is why we use the term it's reliability risk.  We can't say with any sense of authority there is a direct linkage between investments and reliability, SAIDI and SAIFI.  Reliability depends on many other factors. 


If I have a piece of equipment that's at its end of life, you know, those conductors that I want to replace that I know is at its end of life, I can't guarantee you exactly when it's going to fail, and I can't guarantee you exactly the impacts on customers.

But I do know, if I don't replace it, the risk of an interruption is higher.  And our customers have told us they do not want to see reliability risk increase.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I think that goes to my next question.  Much of the application and the justification is -- what you are saying is your customers, you did the engagement with them, and their response to you is, “We are not willing to have a degradation in reliability risk.”
     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's what you took away from that.  

And if we look at your reliability, not reliability risk, as I understand it -- and you may or may not want to turn this up.  This is starting on page 30 of the compendium, all the way to page 33.  

This is Hydro One versus the CEA composite on a number of reliability metrics, and what this shows, you know, your trend is better than the CEA composite, and, overall, over the last number of years, in most cases, you are trending in the right direction.  And this is the first -- you are in the top quartile.  This is what you are talking about against this information; correct? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But we are still -- and I understand in the application that we still need to significantly, in your view, increase your sustainment spending, even though you are trending in this direction. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  I want to be clear, Mr. Rubenstein, that those particular statistics are lagging indicators.  That's our performance that existed in the past.  Our job is to ensure that the performance is maintained in the future.  And levels of investment that were necessary to achieve that level of performance in the past must be adjusted as a result of the current condition of our assets in order that those levels be maintained.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the increased capital spending and sustainment we have seen over the last couple of years to previous years, shouldn't that, then, continue the direction of it going down, since it's a lagging indicator?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Not at the current levels.  And the reason for that is, again, our assets, as they age and deteriorate, have to be replaced, and the pace at which they are aging and deteriorating is increasing.  Consequently, our investments have to increase and, in particular, as you have pointed out, in the lines area.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can we turn to page 36 -- 35 and 36.  This comes from the North American Transmission Forum Reliability.  So this is against U.S. entities?  Am I correct?  That's what you're -- C.A. is Canadian?

     MR. PENSTONE:  So I want to be clear that -- so the North American Transmission Forum also includes Canadian members, but it is -- the majority of its members are American. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we turn to page 36, we see the quartiles of a number of reliability metrics.  And it sort of tells a very different story than the C.A. metrics.  You have a lot of fourth.  You've got some thirds.  You've got some fourth quartiles, no first quartiles.  So it's a very stark picture from the CEA.


So is your reliability great, or is it below average?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So we need to ensure that we are comparing apples and apples.  The CEA performance that we cite is based on the performance of what we've referred to as our multi-circuit network, which is the southern Ontario network that has the redundancy that I described previously.


The NATF results are based on the performance of our entire network, including the lines and stations in northern Ontario which have less redundancy and consequently provide less reliability.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do we know what -- my understanding is there is 21 companies in the North American Transmission Forum.  Do we know -- have you provided who those companies are?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So there are more than 21 companies in the North American Transmission Forum.  The Forum has a certain standard that has to be met before their results are included in this report.  Twenty-one of their membership has met that standard and has enabled this report to be produced. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide the list?  I am sort of not clear where that fell on the confidentiality spectrum.

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Rubenstein, I believe that was part of a motion, and the response to that motion per the direction of the Board has been to prepare this report, but we clearly would be offside NATF through the disclosure of anything more than what this report provides, particularly the members that -- the individual member names of the peer group. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I leave that to the Board, if that's something they would find helpful.  Obviously we would, but I would leave that in the Board's hands. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  It's not -- just to be clear, Mr. Rubenstein, it's not information that we would be able to provide.  It would be in the -- it's in the hands of NATF, and the North American -- the organization would have to -- the North American Transmission Forum would have to be the ones to release that information.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  We have been talking about capital expenditures, and I just want to sort of shift gears a bit.


I am correct that, while your planning process may be looking at capital expenditures, for a regulatory, we look at in-service additions, what we are adding to rate base.  Am I correct?  

     MR. HUBERT:  I can confirm that rates do include consideration of in-service additions for -- as part of the formula for rate base, certainly. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  

     MR. HUBERT:  That's one of the factors.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, on page 37, we had asked you to -- AMPCO Interrogatory 47 had asked you to show what your actual in-service additions were for a given year versus your approved in-service additions for a given year.  Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And, on page 38, I have recast that table just to sort of make it a little easier for the discussion.  And on line 9 of this chart, you will see the in-service additions for 2012 through '28 broken down first by approved, and then the next column is actual, and it goes -- do you see that?  Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then I have shaded it so we have a sense of the rate periods we're talking about.  So we have the 2013/2014 rate period in the 2012-0031 proceeding.  The white in the middle is the 2014-014 proceeding, the 2015 and 2016.  Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if we go to line 18, we are talking -- and this -- lines 17 and 21 are talking about total in-service additions.  It's the same as line 9.


If we look at line 18, it's showing the difference in any given year.  Do you see that?  The actuals versus approved? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as we see, you are $80 million less in 2013, $51.2 million higher in 2014, $122.2 million less in 2015, and $238.4 million more in 2016.  Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there is the percentage, what that represents in a percentage, on line 19. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then, on line 20, we look at the rate -- I am looking at the difference between what's been approved in the rate period, so just adding the approved in '13 and '14 and adding the actuals in '13 and '14 and comparing it.  Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So -- and I see, for the 2013/2014 rate period, you are $29.2 million less; and for the recent period, you were $116.2 million more.  Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's about a seven -- do you take it, subject to check, that's 7.77 per cent difference more than what you were approved?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So is it subject to your checking?  That has a connotation.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, do you take it --


MR. PENSTONE:  I'll -- for the purpose of my answer, I will accept your arithmetic.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you have the table where this came from.  It was provided to your counsel, so...

     MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if you see between line 11 and 15, it's the exact same calculations, and I'm looking simply at sustainment spending.  And if we look at 14, this is the rate period.  We see, in the 2012-0031, so '13/'14, you were $27.9 million over, and then, in 2014, you were -- sorry, in EB-2014-0140, comparing that, 2015/2016, you were $121 million over.  Do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's a significant differences from what was approved.  You'd agree with me there?

     MR. PENSTONE:  I would agree, and I am going to suggest that, on panel 6, they will explain the difference, the $116 million over -- sorry, the $121 million overage that you are concerned about, the circumstances behind that. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And, well, we will get into that, I guess, in that panel.  And I just want to understand.  My understanding from the settlement agreement in the last proceeding was that there was no reductions in capital -- in-service additions, capital expenditures.  Am I correct?  There was only a reduction in OM&A than what you had sought?  Do I have that correctly?

     MR. HUBERT:  I believe you are correct, yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So you got everything you asked for on capital spending and yet were 7.77 per cent more in in-service additions; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you're seeking to add that into rate base, the overage, essentially, in rate base in this application; correct?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes.  That will be reflected in the rate base, subject to Board approval, correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the Board gave you -- there was a settlement.  You had it approved, large capital expenditure, and yet that obviously you didn't feel was enough, and you have spent way past that.  And that's reasonable.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We will explain the circumstances behind the incremental amount in panel 6.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Panel 6?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Just to be clear, there is a difference in terminology that's being used by the Hydro One witnesses internally, namely, panelling numbers, and the panel names that we have provided externally.  And I think what Mr. Penstone is referring to is the work execution panel that will be appearing following the planning panel.
     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I want to understand how -- when we are going to come back, we will talk about if those were prudent, I guess, in that panel. 


I want to understand.  When we are back here in 2019, for the 2019 application, say the Board approves your large capital increase.  Is that really going to be a cap on what you are going to be able to spend, or are you just going to spend a lot more than that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I think that's a speculative question that I can't answer. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, are you committed to spending what the Board approves, or you are not committing to spend what the Board approves? 

     MR. VELS:  I think, if I understand your question, you are asking are we committed to spending to Board approval levels.  The answer is yes.  

As I am sure you will hear in the panel coming forward, there are sometimes decisions that have to be made in respect of the system.  But ensuring that we have the rigour and the capital execution capabilities to execute to Board-approved levels of capital is one of the areas of focus that we spent some time on between December and May, as I referred to previously.  

Ensuring that our in-service capital, in fact, is as close as possible, given the vagaries of weather and other outage-related constraints, as close to Board-approved levels as possible is now part of compensation metrics within our system.  So we do take it very seriously. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's talk about that exactly. 

If we can turn to page 44, we had asked you to provide your corporate scorecards.  

In my understanding, these corporate objectives that are on page 45 from 2015 -- and 2016 is on page 46 -- you have management incentive pay that's connected to the corporate scorecards.  Do I understand that?  Is that what you are referring to? 

     MR. VELS:  If I am correct, you are referring to Exhibit 1, tab 6, Schedule 4?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes. 

     MR. VELS:  The scorecard that's outlined there is the previous scorecard that was in place at the company. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, on page 46, if you flip it over, this is the 2016, or at least the last one we have seen that was provided from June.  

     MR. VELS:  Right.  The scorecard that I was referring to, in fact, is the scorecard that's included in our presentation day application.  It outlines in-service capital as one of the metrics, both on distribution and transmission, that management is required to meet, and that is the scorecard that we are using for compensation metrics purposes. 

The format of this scorecard is one that was in place previously, but not the all of the metrics that are here are included in our team scorecard that drives the overall compensation for the company.  Each of our executives and individuals throughout the company will have subsidiary KPIs, in addition to the team scorecard, which they are directly paid on.  And that would include many of the metrics that are included in Exhibit 1, tab 6, Schedule 4. 

So we did change the compensation system of the company, but really the focus on the metrics hasn't changed.  In-service capital, as a per cent of OEB-approved levels, is still a very important metric.  We have just elevated that to a team scorecard level, where the entire company -- anybody in the company who is subject to a bonus plan is now paid on attainment of that level. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Maybe you can give me the reference.  Do we know, then?  You have set -- you  essentially have the 2017 scorecard that management will be -- there will be an incentive aspect of their compensation?  

Can you maybe point me?  Is there an evidentiary reference you can provide me that has that, or has that not been provided? 

     MR. VELS:  Sorry, just to be clear, you are referring to 2016 or 2017?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, my understanding is this is the 2016 one that’s on page 46, but you are changing -- 

     MR. VELS:  No, we have already changed it.  One of the things we did in early 2016, when we changed the compensation systems of the company to make sure that performance was directly correlated to pay, is we reconstituted a new -- we call it a team scorecard, and there are several metrics on that team scorecard that are directly related to everybody's pay.  That was presented to the panel on presentation day. 


So I think, subject to correction, and I don't believe that was entered into evidence.  However, it is available and, I think, was provided to you at the time. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Just to be clear, Mr. Rubenstein, the presentation -- PowerPoint presentation was filed in this proceeding, and it is available on the website, and it's page 34 of that PowerPoint presentation. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Could we get an exhibit number for that, please?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  If that assists the parties, that will be K1.4.  

EXHIBIT No. K1.4:  Page 34 of PowerPoint Presentation in this proceeding
MR. NETTLETON:  And just for the panel's reference, that is on the screen now, that page 34 of that presentation day. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  That's fine.  If we can just blow it up to the – yes, thank you.  


So if I look at TX in-service capital, so this is 2016, so this really replaces what I had in our compendium.  This replaces essentially what's on page 46 of my compendium?  

     MR. VELS:  For compensation purposes, yes.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I see TX in-service capital, the target for the full year is $910 million.  Do I have that right, for transmission?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  My understanding -- and we can go to your response on page 37 -- is that the OEB-approved transmission capital spending is 673.3, and your bridge forecast is 911.  So it's not the board-approved; it's some other number that you're targeting. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  Thank you for pointing that out. 

We do have a commitment to in-service capital on a cumulative three-year basis.  This is the amount that's required to meet the commitment that we made as part of the settlement agreement in our last rate filing. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So am I correct, if I looked at the total, what I would -- I don't have the numbers in front of me.  But if I looked at what was approved in 2014, 2015, and 2016, the Board-approved, and then I looked at what you did in 2014 and 2015, the difference should be the 911?  

     MR. VELS:  No.  As Mr. Penstone outlined, there were some changes and some circumstances that we did have to deal with that did result in incremental spending.  And as he outlined, that will be outlined and explained in the upcoming panel. 


So we did and do combine what's required by the system, because that is our responsibility and, in addition to that, what the OEB has approved and allowed in rates.

So it wouldn't be exactly the same, but we are in the -- are prepared to discuss that and explain the differences in the upcoming panel. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just to be clear, it's not the Board-approved.  It's the Board-approved plus some other amount that you will talk on panel 6 of why you need to spend it?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Going into the future then, when we have this for 2017 and 2018, is it going to be the Board-approved in each of those years, or it is going to change?  What is that target going to look like in the next two years?  

     MR. VELS:  I think that's a great question, and I think it depends, between distribution and transmission, where we would be in the cycle of the Board approval period.  

So I think it would be fairly safe to say that our 2017 compensation target would be the Board-approved in-service number for 2017, because it's the first year of the application.  It does represent what we believe we can and should in-service in 2017.  And I can say with a fairly high level of certainty that it would be that number that we’d hold our people accountable to. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if you met your target in 2017, would the same thing be the case for 2018? 

     MR. VELS:  Absent any further circumstances or failures in the system or anything that materially changed the reliability risk and that we felt we had to deal with, and would then come back to the Board with a justification for, if you exclude that type of circumstance, change from our business, then, yes, absolutely. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


If we can just quickly put up the scorecard back on the screen for a second.  All right.  Thank you very much. 


I want to just in a general -- as a general proposition, as a rate-regulated entity on a cost-of-service basis, which Hydro One is on in this application and has been previously, you are able to achieve a higher or lower than approved return on your -- than the equity built in.


Would I be correct by either -- the things that changes, you can spend more or spend less, and the more revenue -- and the change in the revenue that you bring in or -- either it's more or less.  Those are what's really going to change the return on equity.  Am I correct, at a high level?  

     MR. VELS:  I mean, with respect, that is a bit of a vague statement.  So certainly differences between what was planned and is included in rates and outturns or outcomes absolutely have the potential to change our actual experience versus the allowed ROE, so -- 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that's -- 

     MR. VELS:  -- so -- yeah.  Okay.  


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So -- but --


MR. VELS:  I think we are aligned. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you overearn the big drivers for that in a cost-of-service environment is you either spent less than what the Board had approved or you had -- and/or you brought in more revenue than you had built into the previous application.  At a high level, those are the two big drivers of what could cause you to overearn.

     MR. VELS:  Could you just repeat the first one?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  It's either the costs which the Board had approved are either lower or the revenues are higher -- 

     MR. VELS:  Right.  So if we can provide -- I'm sorry to -- I didn't mean to interrupt you either.  So if we achieve our outcomes and our commitments on work and are able to perform that work for less cost, absolutely, that would result in us overearning.  Equally, if we didn't and we had to spend more, we would underearn our allowed ROE.


Beyond that, yes, you are correct; changes in load and consumption do have a material effect on the transmission system as well. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when I go to page 47 of my compendium, this is your transmission ROE from 2012 to 2015.  What I see on this chart from 2012 to 2015, you have overearned in the last four years, some by a significant margin.  And then, on page 48, this is the letter from Mr. Nettleton filed yesterday regarding the response to the Board's motion.  And I understand there are some caveats about how the calculation of an annualized amount based on third quarters, but at least from what's been provided, you are expected to -- or you would be annualized to an 11.7 per cent transmission ROE, which would be 2.5 per cent, I have it, than what's been approved roughly. 


So you're -- I -- as I see it, you're -- for the last five years you've overearned, or you are expected to overearn this year. 

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does that say something about the forecasts, that the forecasts that you have provided consistently in the evidence are wrong?  We are getting the costs wrong, or we are getting the revenues wrong consistently?  

     MR. VELS:  I don't think I would characterize it as the forecast is wrong or we are getting the costs wrong.  There have been some fairly material impacts on weather over that period of time, which has been one of the most significant drivers of outcomes.


There are times, however, in the year where our load and the outcome is significantly worse than the forecast. 

Over time -- and I think this is going to be explained and outlined in the last panel -- there are differences from time to time because weather is, by its nature, unpredictable.  So in any one year or any one period within the year, we could be either over or under our allowed ROE as a result of weather patterns. 


For this year, we do expect to be significantly closer to our allowed ROE than we have been in prior years, and, in fact, we are running below our ROE until we had a particularly warm one month this summer, which did increase the peak load and has contributed to at least that annualized overearning. 


However, in the fourth quarter, we do have differences in our timing on depreciation and OM&A, and the final ROE for the year may well be less than what's outlined in this schedule. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to talk about customers and your engagement.  I took it from the presentation this is a big part of this application is your engagement with the customers to help determine what you need and what's appropriate.  Is it -- at a high level, am I correct?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I know we are going to be talking about this on another panel later on, or two panels, potentially, but I just want to understand at a high level. 


At a high level, what I understood you did was you worked with IPSOS, the public opinion survey company, to do both in-person and online engagement work with your customers, customers as you defined them this morning.  Am I correct?

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  There is -- our customers were engaged in three different fashions:  one-on-one discussions, group discussions, and online. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I was saying, the customers you engage with are not those who necessarily pay transmission rates, but those who are just simply connected to your system.  So LDCs, directly connected customers, and, as well, I guess, generators. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Those were the three groups that we consulted. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I am correct, distribution companies, they pass the costs on; they don't pay transaction rates?  The end-use customers, a school or a residential home or a commercial building, they are the ones who pay your rates?
     MR. HUBERT:  That's correct, Mr. Rubenstein.  The transmission tariffs are, of course, rolled down into the RTSR rates that are paid by distributors customers.  But our definition of a transmission customer is per the code, and you are right; that is what the basis for the engagement was. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand what -- you are correct.  Under the code, that is what a transmission customer is.


Do you know, at a high level, what percentage of the revenue requirement then will be collected that you -- are collected ultimately by, say, LDCs who pass on those costs versus directly connected customers who do pay your transmission rates directly?  Do you know --

     MR. HUBERT:  I do not have that information here, no. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide that? 

     MR. HUBERT:  I think we could provide something as an undertaking, as an estimate. 

     MR. MILLAR:  J1.1. 

Undertaking No. J1.1:  To provide, at a high level, what percentage of the revenue requirement will be collected ultimately by LDCs versus directly-connected customers
     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me -- and maybe you know at a high level -- is the majority of your costs ultimately paid for by -- or passed through LDCs to end-use customers?

     MR. HUBERT:  I prefer to answer that through the undertaking, and I guess we will give you a sample year, if that's acceptable to the Board.

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine.  I am just looking directionally to have a sense of what that would be.


So you'd agree -- would you agree with me that, if a customer has to pay your costs versus a customer who passes on those costs to someone else, they may look at your planning; they may look at what you are doing very differently?  You'd agree, if you are paying for something, obviously your incentives are a little different than someone who passes it on?
     MR. HUBERT:  I am actually not able to answer that.  It sounds like a subjective view of what various customers take into consideration.  So I am afraid I can't help you with that. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  But I can add -- and, again, a subsequent panel will get into more details -- is each of our customers considered the impacts of unreliability based on their own particular context.  LDCs -- the topic was about reliability and what is the appropriate balance between reliability risk and rates.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you'd agree with me, if I am a Toronto Hydro customer, my power goes out because it's Hydro One or it's Toronto Hydro, I don't know.  I just call Toronto Hydro to complain, I guess, so Toronto Hydro, I would assume -- and maybe panel 3 can talk about this -- would be more inclined to want to ensure that that they are -- that they are getting supply, because -- and that the rates issue is a little different, because they are not paying for that; is that a fair statement --

     MR. HUBERT:  Our premise was that -- exactly as you described it in the example you gave.  Toronto Hydro would be the one that would be concerned with the transmission reliability, as they are transmission connected.  That is precisely -- I think you said in another way -- why we spoke to Toronto Hydro and to other transmission-connected customers -- 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, on the flip side, they are not paying the rates. 

     MR. HUBERT:  They are paying the transmission revenues to the IESO; right?
     MR. VELS:  I think maybe the way you look at it, Mr. Rubenstein, is Hydro One is a distributor as well, so we take the impact on our customers' rates and our bills very seriously.  So I -- and our customer panel will certainly be able to speak to this in greater detail, because there were different responses depending on whether it was a large connected customer, generator, or an LDC.


But we would heavily weight, as we think about transmission rates, the impact on our customer bills, and, in fact, we do.  

So I am not sure that I can speak for what Toronto Hydro management thinks and believes every day, but our distribution company management weight impacts on our customer bills quite heavily. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We will talk about that, I guess, in detail with the other panel. 

I just want to understand how it fit into the planning process.  As I understand it, if we go to page 49 -- this is a BOMA interrogatory, and they asked you -- they say in BOMA's interrogatory that consultations with customers were done not long before the application was filed, eight to ten weeks.  What specific amendments were made to the application reflected?  And you listed them, and it's the things you talked about this morning about overall sustainment capital.  

But I am just trying to understand how this fits in because, ultimately, one would assume that you are taking in customer preferences at an early stage, not essentially at the end of the line, as I see this, essentially eight to ten weeks before you file.

So can you help me understand where it fits in? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, as we developed our investment plan, the results of the customer consultations were input into the plan, and the plan was adjusted as part of the stage that we referred to as engagement.  So it was towards the end of the process to develop an investment plan that their input adjusted the plan.  

Sorry, I want to rephrase that carefully, that their input was incorporated to develop the plan.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And was this an expectation at the beginning of the plan, that this was how you were going to do it?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We absolutely expected to take the outcomes of the customer consultations and use them to inform the plan.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to page 50, this is a planning investment presentation, and there is an excerpt from that.  And I just want to -- I won't go through it; I am short on time.  

So if I can ask you to turn to page -- you can see this on pages 45 and 46 of the compendium.  This talks about the inputs, and then 46 talks about the investment approvals.  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you have your numbers right, Mr. Rubenstein?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, obviously I do not.  It’s 58 and 59.  I apologize.  


And I don't see where it talks about the inputs of customers.  And then, on 59, where you have the planning approvals, I don't see that either where that would fall in.  And this is especially on page 60, where you provide a schedule, and I don't see anything about customers on the schedule part where you have the various steps. 

So can you help me fit this all in?  If we go down to page 60, you can see the schedule of all the...

     MR. PENSTONE:  Mr. Rubenstein, I'd have to -- I can't answer your question right now.  I am going to suggest that it all depends on the timing of when this presentation was delivered, because the decision to undertake the customer consultations occurred in the winter of 2016.  I don't know whether necessarily that decision was reflected in this presentation and whether this presentation occurred prior to that. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, I can ask this again on the planning panel, and you think of a response. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, as I understand it, the original planning process didn't have the engagement, and then you put it in.  That's what I take away from that response. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, again, I don't have the entire context behind this particular presentation, but I can assure the Board that the decision was made that customer consultations had to occur and would be undertaken and would inform our investment plan, and they did.  

So, you know, sitting here right now, I can't explain why this schedule didn't include that.  But the actual management of the development of our application certainly identified and had the timetable for the customer consultations and when the outcome of those customer consultations would affect and inform our plan. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you.  Just a last couple of questions.

If we can go back the page 22, this was the goals and 

objectives associated in the last -- that you presented in the last proceeding.  I’m interested in the last one.  It says: 
“Achieving productivity improvements and cost effectiveness.”

That’s a strategic objective, and the five-year vision is:

“Achieve top quartile unit cost against comparable utilities.”
Do you see that?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The last line there.  And I didn't see on -- and, on page 5, which is the values and business objectives that you are presenting in this transmission case, I don't see a similar goal that is looking at being top quartile in unit cost.  I didn't see something like that.  Is there a reason why you didn't include that now?  

     MR. VELS:  I think it would be fair to say that we are not yet complete in fully scoping the complete potential of this company.  And, you know, maintaining top quartile costs is a fairly generic statement.  We have been very focused on how much we can improve the business by, and that was the really a function of all the work we did earlier on this year.  

It would be fair to say that most of the work we – most of the outcome measures that we did focus on as we put this transmission system plan together were by how much and to what extent we could reduce OM&A and improve our capital efficiency and also, as much as possible, reduce the impact on the rates at the same time. 


I anticipate that, as we go forward, we may well have a longer-range goal.  My suspicion would be that, if we do, it would be more specific than that one outlined there, and we would be probably more informed by what we actually think the potential of the company can be over time.  

That work's not really complete.  We focused very much on what we think we can do within this planning period. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to the last page of the compendium, this has the unit costs that you have provided, and at least as we are comparing to, I guess, 2013, when I assume the evidence was prepared for the last proceeding, you know you are not -- you are maybe improving a little bit in some, but you are not improving in others.  

Unit cost is obviously an important way to show productivity and efficiency.  How should we look at this?  

     MR. VELS:  I am not sure I fully understand the question.  Could you just rephrase it?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I looked in the previous proceeding.  There was specific goal to be top quartile in unit costs compared to other utilities.  I look at the unit cost metrics that you have provided.  I don't know how they compare to other utilities, obviously.  But, as I see it, you are not even improving in many of these; in fact, you are getting worse.  So it seemed to me, at least compared to what you said in the last case, we are really far from that goal.  

     MR. VELS:  So the unit costs do reflect the circumstances and the facts behind each of the KPIs, and we do have a panel coming up that is going to be well suited to discuss the details behind each of the metrics, what drives them. 


One of the particular circumstances of this business that I have personally been working with, as have my teams, is the top-line metrics are difficult to manage by in this business, because it's the subsidiary metrics that are more meaningful.  So brush clearing, for example -- and it's probably no different to making a product, you know, in a different factory or in a different place.  But brush clearing, for example, is going to have a different per unit cost depending on where you are operating and what you are doing. 


So we had spent quite a bit of time looking at tier 2 and tier 3 metrics as well, because those are the ones that we can drive down to individual levels and start to improve performance.


So we are more than happy to discuss the particular numbers, but I would rather do that in a subsequent panel if that's okay with you. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, no, that's fine.  We'll get into details. 


My last question is just with respect to something you said this morning in the examination-in-chief, and that's with respect to the Auditor General's report.  And, as I understood it, what you said is a report is being prepared to the Board that will essentially address each specific of the -- I think you -- there are 19 recommendations.  Did I understand that's going to happen in early 2017?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  I am not sure exactly what our internal audit leader schedule is on that and which meeting of the audit committee he is planning to present it, but considering that we are nearing the end of resolving all of our actions, I anticipate it should be fairly soon. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think you mentioned that it will say which ones are a fit, which ones you, you know, you've completely answered, which ones are -- you're in progress.  Do I understand that?  

     MR. VELS:  We asked the internal audit group to oversee and report back on management's effectiveness on ensuring that they considered and, where appropriate, made changes relative to recommendations in the AG report. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you for your significant indulgence. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein. 

Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vels, can I just ask you -- and we will go back to Mr. Rubenstein's compendium on page 46.  That's a corporate scorecard draft.  Can you -- and I think you have covered this, but I wasn't catching the relationship.


What's the relationship between this and the one that you took us to in the presentation day?  And that was up a minute ago.  I think it was page 36.  Did one replace the other, or how are these related?  

     MR. VELS:  Previously the company had a scorecard that looked like this, and they measured the outcomes against the target, and then the compensation that resulted from that was approved by the Board based on the composite performance of the entire scorecard.


We changed the compensation systems for 2016, which we think is more in line with best practices where we, for the entire company, identified a smaller number of metrics that we thought were meaningful, assigned them specific percentage weightings, and then defined a range of outcomes between, if you had budget you would receive 100 per cent of your target bonus compensation.  If you exceeded, you could earn up to 200.  And if you fell short, you could earn down to zero, and so the principal change was to reduce the number of metrics in the team scorecard and then directly link them mathematically on a line-by-line basis to compensation. 


There are other metrics in this scorecard that are also important but didn't make it -- 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, when you are saying "this,” is the --

     MR. VELS:  Sorry, the Exhibit 1, tab 6, Schedule 4. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Okay.  

     MR. VELS:  There are metrics on that that we still consider to be important but didn't make it to the team scorecard.  Those would be still incorporated in personal goals.  So, for example, my compensation -- 80 per cent of my compensation is driven by the team scorecard and attainment of that.  I have 20 per cent of my compensation that has three or four incremental goals that I also have to hit, so some of these metrics would have been in, say, for example, Mr. Penstone or somebody else's personal goals. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Do we have all the, on the record, then, the corporate, team, individual, at the C-level suite, or -- do we have all that on the record now?  

     MR. VELS:  No, what is on the record, subject to confirmation, is the team scorecard. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Just the team scorecard?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  So this one that was given in response to a Schools interrogatory, when it was asked for the corporate scorecard, that is not in use anymore?  Is this one that's up on the screen now?

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  

     MR. VELS:  The metrics are still being measured and tracked, and those metrics would still have targets associated with them.  They are just not part of the combined team scorecard compensation scheme. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Then I am still missing the -- Schools asked for the:

"Please provide a copy of Hydro One's 2015 to 2017 corporate scorecards.”

What was -- the response included this corporate scorecard that's up on the screen right now.


So what would the proper response be, then?  What is the corporate scorecard?  Is it a combination of the team and individuals?  If this isn't in use, what would the -- should the -- have the response have been?

     MR. VELS:  Well, the only scorecard we have, as it's framed now in the business, is the -- what we are referring to as the team scorecard, and that's -- and that drives compensation, and that is what we are calling it. 


Below that, we've -- as we look at our operating reports and we measure the performance of each of our lines of business, they now all have individual KPIs --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right. 


MR. VELS:  -- and so there is actually a greater number of metrics that we are now measuring against than just this, what's termed a corporate scorecard, so we have changed the, I guess you would say, the methodology of reporting as KPIs in the company and the format of our operating reports. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So, again, if we do not have the scorecards at the individual level, at the executive level, could you supply those?  

     MR. VELS:  So just to clarify, you are asking what the personal goals would be for the senior executives of the company?

     MR. QUESNELLE:   How they are compensated, yes.  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, yes.  I would probably defer to my counsel, but some of those personal goals would be considered highly confidential, because many of them would potentially align to changes in talent in the organization, as they are senior executive goals, and we would probably request some high level of confidentiality on certain of them.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  We would certainly entertain that, yes. 

     MR. VELS:  Yeah.  I understand that you are looking for metrics, and I understand the reason for the request. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So, Mr. Chair, I take it that's an undertaking, and it may be subject to any number of requests for confidentiality or other comments, but we will mark it as such, and then if Hydro One has more to say about it, I am sure we will hear that, so we will call it J1.2. 

Undertaking No. J1.2:  To advise what the personal goals would be for the senior executives of the company
     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein?

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm going to ask one follow-up question to what -- your questioning. 


Mr. Vels, you said that there is additional goals for lines of business.  That was the phrase, and I just want to understand what you meant by that.  So is there -- you have the team scorecard for everybody.  Then it's broken down to whatever you consider lines of business.  You have other metrics that would be for all management within a line of business?  

     MR. VELS:  I'd refer you to the team scorecard -- sorry, the scorecard that we filed as part of this application, which includes tier 1, tier 2, and tier 3 metrics.  That would be a representative list of the types of metrics that we would have in our, call it, lines of management KPIs.  


A high percentage of those KPIs, for example 2017, will be translated into targets, and their personal compensation would be measured against that. 

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, Dr. Elsayed. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah, I just want to first clarify the undertaking.  So what you will provide as the next level of scorecards below the team scorecard; is that it?  

     MR. VELS:  My understanding, to be specific, is what you have asked for is, for example, my other goals that I would be subject to in 2016, and those of the CEO and his reports. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I do have a question about the exchange between Mr. Rubenstein and Mr. Penstone about the reasons for the significant or, I guess, material increase in sustainment capital between your last application and this application.  


If I understood it correctly, the response was that it was prompted at least in part to the fact that you have observed some failures in some of the key equipment, and I think you gave an example, Mr. Penstone, of the failure of one of the insulators in the parking lot as an example of that.  
     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  The investment levels are informed by the information that we have about our assets. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That information is -- part of collecting that information is investigations into significant incidents.  That was a significant incident and it contributed to plans to redress the issues that were identified as a result of the investigation.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  So that's what I want to make a distinction about.  This would be area-active approach to an incident that happened, and then you go back and investigate it and determine what could have been done. 


Could you explain to me what you do in terms of active approach to define things upfront before they happen, and also to the extent that what you do now could be different from what you did before, to explain that big difference between your last application and this application?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So we use asset condition assessments to make a determination of the state of our assets and whether they are at their end of life.  

A good example of an outcome of an asset condition assessment is the conductor programs that we are proposing to undertake in this application.  Those were all based on set condition assessments where we took samples of conductors and tested them.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  So how is that different from what you did before you submitted your last application?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  In terms of the conductors? 

     DR. ELSAYED:  The level of investment, I guess.  I am trying to understand why your proposed level is much higher this time.  If you did condition assessments as part of your previous application, why was your prediction much lower than you are asking for now?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So as it relates to the actual conductors?

     DR. ELSAYED:  Any assets. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Oh, so I can -- in this particular application, the asset condition assessments that underpinned the need for station investments in the past continue to confirm the levels of investments that we made previously.  

So when those assessments were done -- breakers, transformers -- there hasn't been compelling new information about the states and condition of those assets to change the pace and levels of investments on station assets.  

Lines is a different story.  So I talked about the insulators; they are not subject to asset condition assessments -- actually, I want to step back on that.  That is to be confirmed by the planning group, the planning panel.  


We have done -- the proposals for tower coating is predicated upon knowledge of the condition of the towers in the high corrosive areas and the opportunity to apply the zinc coating that I described earlier to extend their life. 


The circumstances behind the need to accelerate and increase the conductor replacements, I would respectfully request that that be deferred to the planning group where I will have the expert, who will be able to explain the circumstances behind that. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Just one more question.  Do I understand you correctly that not all your assets are subject to a regular condition assessment?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We have many, many assets, and I will give you an example of a U-bolt on a tower from which an insulator is suspended.  We don't do regular assessments of those U-bolts, but we do regularly monitor and do inspections of the towers.  

So can I say precisely that we do a specific investigation on each and every aspect of a tower?  No.  But we do regular inspections, and we look for all of the elements that comprise a tower and what their condition is. 

And, again, I will have an expert on our asset condition practices for towers on the planning panel.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, that's fine.  So I guess I will reserve some questions.  I still am not clear about what happened differently between your last application and this application in terms of predicting your capital investments that caused the level of investment to be that much higher.  So if you prefer to wait -- 

     MR. HUBERT:  Dr. Elsayed, if I may chime in for a moment?  One additional piece that we have is the customer engagement exercise, which informed this particular round.  

In the past, we actually relied on, as Mr. Penstone pointed out, the technical assessments and past levels of investment and, in certain cases, actual assumptions and input we had from our customers through day-to-day interactions, but not through a concerted customer Engagement, as Mr. Rubinstein discussed with his questions.

This time, we actually approached transmission‑connected customers, laid out three hypothetical scenarios, and asked for some directional feedback on what would the trade-off be between the level of investment and the reliability risk.  

So that also informed our plan in addition to the total cost benchmarking study and the reliability risk assessment.  So those three elements are all changed from previous applications. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  That's useful.  Thanks, Mr. Hubert. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   We had a question in front of you, Ms. Girvan. 

Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

     MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Just one clarification on the scorecards.  Do we have the 2017 scorecards?  I am just trying to clarify.  He said this was used for '16, but now it's changed.  I wonder what we are going to get in the undertaking.  Is it the scorecards that are applicable to 2017?  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I took the one that was in the -- on presentation day to be the 2017 one.  Is that correct, Mr. Vels?

     MR. VELS:  No, that's the 2016 one.  So our 2017 scorecards are in the process of being constructed as we speak, and they will be provided to our board, I believe, at least for an initial discussion, on December 2nd, and then for final approval once all of our results are finalized in February. 


They would, however, I expect, be subject to change, depending on the outcome of these hearings as well because, you know, some of our metrics do relate to approved OEB-level spending. 


So, in short, the '17 scorecard is likely going to be available and approved by our board sometime in February 2017.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Given this -- 


MR. VELS:  And, sorry, if you don't mind?  And that is for specifically related to executive compensation.  Our metrics and our KPIs are being prepared as part of our business planning process.  So the way we measure our company and our -- and the people within it and report in our operating reports, those KPIs are consistent with the scorecard we have provided for approval in this hearing, and they are measured in our operating reports on a monthly basis. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  So when you file the business plan on December 2nd, we will see those scorecards and metrics?  

     MR. VELS:  I think what you will see in the business plan is the proposed scorecard that you see in the transmission rate filing.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   By “proposed,” you mean the one that is being brought to the Board for approval on December 2nd? 

     MR. VELS:  No.  The one that is being brought to the OEB's approval as part of this rate filing. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   I see.  The Board is quite interested in our earlier request for the scorecards for the individuals at the executive level to be furnished.  We are very interested in that.


And I take your point on the status of the ones for 2017.  But it would be -- the linkage has been already made between the business plan and this application.  Closing the loop on that is how the executive is going to be incented to see this application through its implementation and how it would be -- and the connection there.


So we would be interested in seeing that, with your earlier caveats that there may be requests for confidentiality, the ones that are going to the Board for approval on December 2nd, if we could, please.  

     MR. VELS:  Can I take that under advisement?  And the reason is I am not 100 per cent sure what the timing is for our HR professional to be presenting those to our compensation committee.  So I would like to make sure that I can commit to what I undertake. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood, Mr. Vels, but just recognize that, whatever status it's in, we would like to see them.  We recognize that they may not be approved until February, because I understand that you'd be waiting for the outcome of this proceeding as well to feed into them, but irrespective -- and even if they weren't going to the Board on the 2nd or if they're going later, we would like to see them, whatever stage they are at now, with the caveats of the subject to change recognize -- being recognized. 

     MR. VELS:  So I will take that away and we'll --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you. 


MR. VELS:  -- I'll make a call as soon as we have a break. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Thank you.


No need to register the undertaking yet, Mr. Millar. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, Mr. Chair, I am wondering if I could just clarify a response that I gave to one of Mr. Rubenstein's questions about -- I believe it was the extent to which the company is committed to comply and meet the Board's decisions as it relates to our investment plan and the subsequent in-service additions. 


We are absolutely committed to doing that.  The only caveat that I want to make clear is there are some circumstances that are unforeseen that may impact the investments that we actually make, examples:  equipment failures, new standards.  They are out there.  They occur.  That may prompt investments that we have not currently planned for.  So this is why at the time I wasn't able to make that definitive statement. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Mr. Elson, you had a comment or a question?  

     MR. ELSON:  Just cross-examine questions in the list.  I don't have an additional comment. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Seeing that it's one o'clock, I think we will take our lunch break now, and Mr. -- if I've got it right, Dr. Higgin, you are up next after lunch?  Sorry?

     DR. HIGGIN:  It's actually my colleague Mr. Yauch who will be asking questions for Energy Probe, but I believe Mr. Elson wanted to go before us. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Ah, I wasn't aware of that change.  I understand your concern.  Thank you.


Okay.  Let's take the -- an hour break, and we will return at two o'clock.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:01 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:03 p.m. 
     MR. QUESNELLE:   Good afternoon.  Please be seated. 

Mr. Elson, I believe you're up first. 

Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson: 

     MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  

I will introduce myself as you are setting up.  My name is Kent Elson, and I represent Environmental Defence.  I will give you a moment, if you need it.  

I only have a brief single area of questions today, and they all relate to the scorecard, so perhaps that could be pulled up.  I won't refer to it right away, but it's Exhibit B-2, tab 1 Schedule 2, page 5, I believe. 

But for the sake of context – and, Mr. Vels, I assume that you will be answering most questions about the scorecard?  

     MR. VELS:  I think so.  

     MR. ELSON:  So, for the sake of context, I think you would agree that the scorecard is one of the key elements of performance measurement under the Board's new filing requirements.  Is that a fair statement?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. ELSON:  And I think you'd agree that, under the filing requirements, Hydro One's next application will involve a greater adoption of incentive and performance based rate setting and that the scorecard, I guess you could say, is a step in that direction?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  It focuses on performance and the ability to measure that performance.  That's right.  

     MR. ELSON:  So I would like to ask you about transmission losses and whether and how they factor into the scorecard.  But I have a bit of an issue, because I haven't had a chance to ask questions to the panel that will be addressing transmission losses, and I don't want to waste your time and the Board's time sort of prematurely getting pulled into some of the more technical issues.

So what I propose to do for the sake of discussion today regarding the scorecard is as follows:  I'd like to assume, for the sake of discussion, that there may be cost-effective measures to reduce transmission losses, and I would like us the assume that some of those measures are operational and some of them would require capital investments.  

And by “cost-effective measures,” I mean the dollars spent on the operational or capital measures would bring about more than a dollar of net benefits to consumers over the life of the measure.  In other words, cost-effective measures would mean that there would be a lowering of bills that would save customers money.  

You know, we may disagree on whether that scenario is reality.  In our view, it is a reality, but for the sake of these discussions so that we don't get dragged into technical issues, can you answer my questions based on that scenario?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I am thinking about Mr. Elson's approach to this, and the concern that I want to raise at the outset and the reason I am objecting to this line is that it is speculative; it's entirely speculative.  

It's the equivalent of asking, you know, whether a cost-reduction aspect that falls outside of Hydro One's control on any other matter -- whether, for example, natural gas costs would have a bearing on the scorecard that Hydro One is proposing.  

It's entirely speculative, and there has to be some causal link, in my respectful submission, in order for this type of questioning to proceed.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Mr. Elson?  

     MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, my friend is getting into precisely the issue that I was trying to avoid, which is an argument or discussion today about whether it is possible for Hydro One to implement cost-effective transmission loss reduction measures, whether they be operation or capital.  

This isn't the panel to address that, and it would be nice if the panels were in a different order, I guess, for my cross, but they are not.  So we are faced with the scenario where I would like to ask questions about what this scorecard means for transmission losses, and the only way that I can do that is based on the kind of scenario which we believe is just reality, but the scenario that we propose.

You know, I call it a scenario for the sake of Hydro One so that they are not having to admit that that is the reality which we believe it, in fact, is. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Can I suggest something, Mr. Elson? Would you equate reduction in system losses to be a system optimization approach, better use of a system, a system that perhaps is -- provides for more capacity or has a more efficient operation?  

I am trying to find -- I see where you want to get to, I think I do.  You want to know where would that be reflected -- that type of initiative be reflected in a scorecard.  Is that right?

     MR. ELSON:  Not exactly where I am going, but that's part of where I am going. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay. 

     MR. ELSON:  I would also like to ask if such measures are available, now or in the future, how they would be reflected in the metrics here, whether they are reflected in the metrics here, and whether these metrics would reflect the benefits that would arise from those kinds of measures which would save customer bills, but would they also be reflected positively in the scorecard.  

So, you know, I can ask my questions to get into more detail.  But, roughly speaking, that would be the kind of line that I am trying to follow. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess, Mr. Nettleton, I think what Mr. Elson is attempting to achieve here, I don't think there would be any difficulty.  If there isn't anywhere in the scorecard where a hypothetical system improvement or system losses -- I recognize the technical issues we are going to get into later --  or the ability for Hydro One to even entertain these types of things from a systems losses perspective.  

But would the panel be able to entertain these line of questions on a hypothetical system improvement system capacity effectiveness without getting into the technical issues around the losses themselves?
     MR. NETTLETON:  Again, I think this has been a helpful exchange.  I think that, if Mr. Elson is really wanting to get to the question, the heart of the issue of (a) does the scorecard expressly reflect transmission system losses, I think the evidence is clear and on the record to that point.  If he wants to confirm that with the witnesses, I think the witnesses can do that based on the evidence in this proceeding.  I think that if Mr. Elson wants to engage in a hypothetical about how transmission system losses -- or whether transmission system losses should be included in the transmission scorecard, I think he is right that this is not the right panel for that because we first have to have a discussion about transmission system losses with the appropriate panel.  

So if the bridge to that is, you know, take out the whole notion of transmission system losses and replace it with any type of efficiency that would arise from, you know, an operational efficiency, change the dynamic to something other than transmission system loss, I think that's a fair line of questions to see how the scorecard would pick that up.  But I think the reality is that, if we go to transmission system losses, per se, I think Hydro One's evidence is pretty clear on why it doesn't believe that it's an appropriate topic for it to be managing to at a system level. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Understood.  Mr. Elson, can you approach your line in that fashion?  

     MR. ELSON:  That will be part of where I am trying to go, yes.  I think the most efficient thing would be for me to proceed with the questions and for, hopefully, the panel to provide answers and address them on a case-by-case basis. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   I recognize that; I just asked the panel.  We recognize the position that Hydro One has taken on this to date, and we would be looking to another panel to delve into that.  So I don't think there is a need to preface every answer with, you know, the reminder that the Board understands what the current stance is of Hydro One on this matter.  

     MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, and that is what I was trying to avoid.  I appreciate that. 


So let's assume that there are measures to reduce losses either that exist now or may arise from time to time in the future, and those measures would result in lower bills.  I think you would agree that Hydro One should implement those measures, everything else being equal. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So can I just clarify?  Are those measures in the operational domain or are they investments?  

     MR. ELSON:  They could be either operational, or they could be part of your replacement of equipment, or, in theory, they could even be a separate capital project, but I think more likely they would be, for example, choice of transformer equipment, you know, in terms of a capital investment. 


So it's not necessarily the entire investment that is justified on transmission loss basis, but perhaps an incremental cost to choose a different material, a different kind of equipment, so as to reduce transmission losses.


So I am asking the question from a broader perspective.  If you can lower bills by implementing measures, whether they be operational or capital, do you think Hydro One should be doing that, everything else equal? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So we -- I cannot, Mr. Elson, accept targets that are based on operational actions.  Those -- the operation of the IESO-controlled grid is under their control.  As you're aware, losses depend on many factors that are within the purview of the IESO:  generation dispatch, voltage control, purchases and sales.  All those in the operational domain impact losses.


Hydro One has no control over those actions, and, therefore, we can't accept a target that has been driven by the actions of another party. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Elson, I don't know that we are going to get very far with this.  What if we have the panel that is going to speak to the losses -- and is it suffice ‑‑ would it suffice your client to -- be sufficient for your client that, based on the discovery you achieve there through your cross, that your arguments as to how whatever arguments you are making on losses find their way into the scorecard at the same time?  Is there any merit in questioning this panel on the structure of the scorecard that isn't evident, I suppose?

      MR. ELSON:  Absolutely, there is.  And it relates to, I guess you could say, what would be reflected in the scorecard if these kinds of measures are implemented and whether that would reflect positively in the scorecard or perhaps even negatively.


So I can continue with the questions, and, you know, I agree that it hasn't been fruitful, but that is because we are getting dragged into responses saying transmission losses can't be achieved by Hydro One, which is a disputed point.


You know, I would hope that the panel could address the specific questions.  I am here because I have some questions about the scorecard and how it will work.  Otherwise, the rest of my questioning will be directed to the panel with Mr. Young.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Mr. Nettleton, what if -- and I recognize I am asking this panel to, you know -- it's an awkward situation.  I recognize the premise on which the questions are being asked is not one that Hydro One accepts.


If this line of question was asked in 1998, where Hydro One was running the system and was operating the system and was the IESO at the same time as being the asset owner and manager, what could we do with the -- what would the scorecard look like at that point?  Perhaps that's something that would allow us to entertain this line of questions in a hypothetical fashion. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  I think I had hair back in 1998, but, Mr. Chairman, I think, you know, one part of this puzzle that we do need to reflect on is that, yes, these lines of questions, in my respectful submission, are best saved for the planning panel.


Mr. Penstone is on that panel, but -- Mr. Penstone and Mr. Young are on that panel, and Mr. Young is the witness that's responsible for this area.  The --

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Will Mr. Penstone be able to -- sorry, Mr. -- just -- if Mr. Penstone can speak to the scorecard issues around this, the questions that Mr. Elson has, is that possible?

     MR. VELS:  Mr. Chair, I am not sure this would help, but do you mind if I jump in here?  And this may not help, and if it doesn't, I apologize.


On Exhibit B-2, tab 1, Schedule 1, we spent some time explaining our process to develop the scorecard, and we actually spent a very material amount of time debating a number of different metrics.  We used filters and a structure to decide what ended up on the scorecard.


And the primary qualities of a metric that needed to be met for it to end up on the scorecard is that that metric needed to be relevant, it had to be objective, measurable, and actionable. 


So, in general, if there was a metric or a goal that clearly benefited the system or benefited customers and met those criteria, I think it would be reasonable to argue that it would be appropriate to include on the scorecard.  


I think the issue we have here is that we can't find a way to decide whether or not what we are talking about is, in fact, relevant, objective, measurable, and actionable.  If it was, I think we would definitely entertain the idea of adding it into the scorecard. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Elson, I take it your arguments are going to be that those things are within the control.  So to the extent that the -- if the Board accepted your arguments, would it then not follow that there would have to be a reconfiguration of the scorecard?  

     MR. ELSON:  That answer is helpful.  It doesn't address all of the questions that I am hoping to be able to ask this panel, which, again, are very brief, and if I could continue with a question or two more, I am hoping to get more useful information, and particularly I would like to have Mr. Vels on the panel to be able to provide an answer.


I don't think it's going to take a long time, and I would like to make an effort before I find myself with a different panel.  


So let's say assuming, again -- and I know this is an assumption you will have to make -- that Hydro One could help lower bills through loss reduction measures, it seems to me that that would not be reflected positively in the scorecard results.  


So, as it stands right now, there would be no positive -- none of these metrics would reflect that positive result. 
MR. VELS:  So I am not sure -- and I may have misunderstood the question, but my understanding is that you have asked:  If there was an action that we could take that is measurable and objective and that would reduce the size of a customer's bill, and we did that, would that or would that not show up in the scorecard as currently configured?

     MR. ELSON:  I am saying specifically if that measure was transmission losses, because my understanding is that that would reduce bills in another part of the system that isn't reflected in your scorecard. 

     MR. VELS:  Because it would reduce the bills for the end user?  Is that what you are saying?  

     MR. ELSON:  And in no way that is reflected in the scorecard, yes.  

     MR. VELS:  I think I'd have to say that's a bit speculative, because, you know, to the extent that LDCs are able to offer cheaper power and energy to their customers, that would improve the satisfaction of a transmission-connected customer.  But, you know, to a large extent, we are making a tenuous connection there.


Again, we would really need to understand what the action was, what the outcome would be, and who would be affected.  If at that point we all agreed that that particular benefit to the system and to the customers and the measures that we all agreed was associated with it was not included in the scorecard, we should include it. 

     MR. ELSON:  Well, let's look at the flip side of that.  If -- 

     MR. VELS:  Whether or not the current scorecard includes --


MR. ELSON:  Sorry, go ahead.  Pardon me.


MR. VELS:  -- that impact, I think is an interesting conversation, but until we know what the measure is and what the action would be, it's hard to -- it's hard to conclude or agree with your supposition. 

     MR. ELSON:  Well, do you want to -- I will come back to that and provide an example, but let me look at the flipside of that. 


If Hydro One were to spend money on this kind of measure, whether it's operational or capital, it would be reflected negatively in the scorecard, because your costs would be going up. Is that fair to say? 

     MR. VELS:  I would have to presume that, if there was an action we could take to reduce line losses to the benefit of the system and it required OM&A expenditure or required in-service capital, that that OM&A expenditure and in-service capital would be included in our revenue requirement.  And, at that point, there are several metrics that do in fact capture those drivers, one of them being in-service capital targets a per cent of the OEB commitment, and then whatever other outcomes we had committed to and were measuring. 

     MR. ELSON:  The ones I was specifically referring to are the metrics in the category of cost control.  And so, if you will look at the proposed scorecard, that's the blue area, and it's the bottom category in the blue area, and those are metrics based on your ability to control costs both in terms of OM&A and capital.  Is that fair to say?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, they are. 

     MR. ELSON:  And so what I am trying to confirm is that, if you were to invest money, whether that's operational or capital dollars, into a transmission loss reduction measure, whether that be operational or capital, that would reflect negatively in your scorecard because your costs are going up. 

     MR. VELS:  That would not be dissimilar to -- I would distinguish between an outcome compared to a target and an absolute outcome. 


For example, we are currently making investments in our customers.  And that is, in fact, adding expense for us today, and it's adding capital.  Because of the way our rate applications are today, that is actually a cost of our company and we are incurring it, and it's reducing our actual ROE. 


But if we agreed to certain actions, investments, and costs as part of a rate application relative to line losses, hypothetically, we would also have certain targets related to line losses.  

So the way the rate-making process works, to my understanding, is it's not just a -- we don't just get a revenue -- we don't just receive a revenue requirement.  We also have outcomes that we have to achieve, and we are -- and that's based on certain investments and costs that we think have to be incurred to achieve the outcomes. 


If we can achieve those outcomes, whatever they are, more efficiently, we will reduce our costs.  However, if the outcome in total requires more expenditure and more capital and we all agree it's the right thing to do, yes, then these cost control metrics would worsen, but for good reason.  

     MR. ELSON:  So all I am saying is, just looking specifically at what we have in front of us, this scorecard which does not have outcomes or targets related to transmission losses or savings resulting from transmission losses, costs would increase.  But there would not be a corresponding positive that's reflected on this current scorecard.  

     MR. VELS:  And that's because we don't know yet, subject to discussion, whether any actions on our part and the related results would be, to my point, relevant, objective, and measurable. 

     MR. ELSON:  That's a fair response.  But I just want to make it clear that you are agreeing that those benefits are not reflected in the scorecard.  So the costs are, but not the benefits. 

I am not criticizing you.  I am just saying this is what we have in front of us, and that's just the reality of what the scorecard says.  And, you know, compare it to a reliability; if you invest in reliability, you have additional costs in the cost control category, but you have benefits that are reflected in the system reliability category.  

Investments in transmission losses are different, and I am just trying to nail down that point to say that the costs are reflected, but not the benefits. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, again, I think the problem here is the context in which this discussion is happening.  Hydro One's evidence has been that the costs associated with transmission losses are not ones that are recovered in its rates or relate to its rates.  They are matters that pertain to the IESO. 


I think what Mr. Elson is suggesting is that future costs related to future investments that Hydro One makes in its assets would be reflected in the rates that are recovered in the transmission revenue requirement.  But there is a whole other source of costs that aren't reflected.  So I don't think it's fair to have Mr. Elson suggest that the scorecard is in some way deficient because it doesn't reflect both costs and benefits, when we know for a fact that the costs associated with transmission losses themselves are not something within the purview of Hydro One. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   I think, Mr. Nettleton, I think you would only read into it that it's deficient once we have the other discussion. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Absolutely. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   I think we have to get there first.  So I think what Mr. Elson is establishing is the facts, what this does and doesn't do.  It's for a later discussion whether or not that creates a deficiency or not, and that's subject to the future discussion.

Dr. Elsayed?  

     DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, maybe it might help with the discussion.  I am assuming that anything that makes it into the scorecard as far as expenditures, capital, or OM&A makes it only because there has been an assessment that the benefit is higher than the cost. 


So to take your hypothetical scenario, my assumption here is, if it is determined that investing either OM&A or capital would result in the net benefit to reduce transmission losses, adding those costs to the scorecard is not negative, as you imply.  It would then imply, then, that it's only added because it has already been determined that that additional cost has a benefit which exceeds the cost.  Does that help?  

     MR. ELSON:  My understanding of the cost control category is that those numbers are meant as metrics to show how well Hydro One is able to keep its costs down.  And so, on that metric of cost control, their aim is to keep the OM&A and capital expenditures as low as possible.  

And when there is other expenditures, such as reliability, yes, they increase costs.  But like you say, they also provide benefits, and those benefits are reflected elsewhere in the scorecard, for example, under the system reliability category.  

But, in a sense, the benefits to transmission losses fall through the cracks, you could say, because they are not reflected in another category on the proposed transmission scorecard, which I think is just a reflection of what is being proposed factually speaking.  And like Mr. Chair said, I can't, at this stage, say that that is deficient; it is just the reality of the scorecard. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, I guess my point is that no investment -- correct me if I am wrong -- would make it into the scorecard unless it has already been demonstrated that it is economically feasible, whether it's OM&A or capital. 

     MR. VELS:  Or that it meets a system need that we have all agreed is required. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Well, even then, you’d be comparing an investment to an issue of equipment failure and reliability and so on. 

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  

     MR. ELSON:  So that's helpful.  If I could just circle back to the main question, which I think it's clear from the answers.  But I'd just like to be sure that, Mr. Vels, the costs of potential transmission loss measure would be reflected in the scorecard, but the benefits are not currently covered under any of the metrics that are listed here?  Or if they are, which ones are they under?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, I did refer to the potential for improving customer satisfaction through lower costs.  But beyond that, I would agree that there is no other specific outcome related to line loss benefits. 

     MR. ELSON:  That is the answer I was looking for.  Thank you.  I will follow up on customer satisfaction.  That's the third metric down, which is overall per cent satisfied in corporate survey.  Is that correct to say?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, we have several customer satisfaction metrics.  I think you need to consider the combination of the customer satisfaction metrics that we have in this table that we are referring to, B-2, tab 1, Schedule 1, and the tier 2 and tier 3 metrics.  So the reason we are also measuring those metrics is they do break down our tier 1 metrics into other actionable activities and metrics that we would also report against. 

     MR. ELSON:  For now, I would like to just focus on scorecard in part because of its regulatory importance, and, in the scorecard, the customer satisfaction is measured as a percentage of those satisfied in a corporate survey.  And it just seems to me that there would be little or no customers that would be so sophisticated to realize that Hydro One has undertaken a measure to reduce transmission losses and understand what that impact is on their bill, which, on an individual basis is, you know, potentially fairly small, and that this wouldn't in fact actually be reflected in the customer satisfaction line there -- or at least if it was to only the most minor extent, and I apologize for interrupting you. 

     MR. VELS:  I think, really, the only reasonable answer is without understanding what the effect would be on that transmission-connected customer and its own customers, I can't really agree with you as to what the impact on that metric would be.  

     MR. ELSON:  So you think that it would have an impact or wouldn't, or you don't know?

     MR. VELS:  I don't know. 

     MR. ELSON:  You don't know.  Okay.  


I am almost done.  I would just like to follow up, Mr. Vels, on a comment that you made during your direct questions, and you made reference in a number -- I think once or twice to striving for excellent in all facets of your business.  Is that a fair summary? 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. ELSON:  I would take that to mean that Hydro One is therefore striving to do better than an average transmission company.  Is that fair to say?  

     MR. VELS:  As a generic comment, that's probably fair.  But one would need to define what transmission company, what "average" means, where they operate, what their results are.  You know, we -- it's a complicated subject, and so I am not sure that I can agree with a generic comment like that.  But clearly what we mean is we want to be better all the time.  

     MR. ELSON:  And you'd mentioned earlier today that one of the differences in Hydro One's new approach is an increased customer focus, and that includes a number of variables, but it includes a focus on bills, efficiency, and productivity.  Is that a fair summary?

     MR. VELS:  What was the first word?  

     MR. ELSON:  Customer bills. 

     MR. VELS:  Thank you.  So effect on bills? 

     MR. ELSON:  That your increased focus on customers would include a focus on bills, efficiency, and productivity?

       MR. VELS:  Well, there are many other things that are also included in that.  Reliability is a material outcome for many of our customers.  Their ability to impact their energy usage is another.  The energy quality that we are delivering to them.


So there are many things apart from those three items, but, for sure, the three that you mentioned are important and are a part of the customer initiatives. 

     MR. ELSON:  And I am trying to expand on and better understand what it means when you were referring to this new focus and striving for excellence in all facets of your business, and I would take it to mean that Hydro One, for example, is striving to be a leader among transmission companies when it comes to taking steps to keep customer bills down; is that fair to say? 

     MR. VELS:  The way I would frame it is that we, when we make our decisions and apply for rates, consider a combination of factors, but most materially the customer needs and preferences that we are informed by -- both by our ongoing discussions with customers and the consultations that we do, the impact on customer bills, and, thirdly, and equally importantly, the impact on the system and the reliability and the risk in that system. 


So we don't focus on only one facet of our operations, which I think is the point about being excellent in everything, and we do have to balance all of those three impacts, because they are frequently opposing factors, and we need to come out and have endeavoured here to do the best we can to balance them. 

     MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Vels.  I naively thought your answer was just going to be a simple "yes,” but the additional detail is helpful. 


I will circle back to this in my questions to the panel relating to transmission losses, but for now those are my questions, and with leave of the Board, I will pack up and review the transcripts. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  

     MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Yauch. 

Cross-Examination by Mr. Yauch:

     MR. YAUCH:  I won't talk about line losses, so don't worry.


I don't have a compendium, but I gave my references to Hydro One, so I am going to start with Board Staff Interrogatory No. 106.  So we saw this earlier. 


I think it's clear from that graph or that chart that Hydro One has sort of reset its expectations into what it needs to maintain its grid and satisfy its customers. 


In as far as I can tell from this application, the two reasons for that are (1) your customers told you they were concerned about reliability, and, secondly, you developed a new risk model that raised a bunch of red flags on how you were managing the system.  Is that fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  There is that element.  In addition to that is the information that we have about the current state of our assets as well.  

     MR. YAUCH:  But when you -- as part of your application, in terms of reliability, you are not actually proposing to improve reliability, you are just proposing to lower the risk that reliability becomes a problem.  Is that correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That is the outcome of our investment plan, yes.  

     MR. YAUCH:  So you are going to tell customers that, previously, the risk that reliability was a concern was this; now the per cent the reliability risk is this.  That's the outcome you will tell customers, not that reliability has improved.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We are saying that here is the relative improvement in reliability risk from today's situation to what it will be after we make these investments. 

     MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We are not, I think to your point, making commitments about what SAIDI and SAIFI will look like. 

     MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  I mean, I was going to ask this later, but let's do it now.  Hydro One has proposed any sort of incentive or penalty reward in terms of outcomes, particularly reliability.  You don't think that that's appropriate.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I will say before Mr. Vels chimes in reliability is also contingent on some factors that are outside of our control, and in particular the weather.  The variations that you see in the past performance of our SAIDI and SAIFI indices were influenced by weather.  

     MR. YAUCH:  Significantly in some cases; right? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

     MR. YAUCH:  But the risks, if you're a customer, if the Board approves your application as you have presented it, they are guaranteed to pay a certain amount more over the next two years, but you are not are promising them anything real over the those two years.  You are only promising that some risk measure is going to go down; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We are certainly committing that the risk measure goes down.  I believe that that's a real commitment.  

     MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  The second thing, so in terms of your model, as far as I can tell -- I went through the numbers -- the biggest component to determining the riskiness of an asset is age; correct?  That is the driving factor when it comes to determine that an asset has become a risk or liability to reliability. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  So the model uses the hazard curves, and the hazard curves are predicated on age. 

     MR. YAUCH:  Right.  So the demographic age of your assets have been known very clearly over the last two applications that your assets were getting older, so I am confused what the risk model is telling you that you didn't already know that now you need 30 per cent more than you were asked -- forecasting in the last application simply because the risk model confirmed that your assets were old and they were risky.  I am confused what the model is telling you that you didn't already know.  You didn't deal with in the last application. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So what the model enables us to do is determine what is the impact on reliability risk at different investment levels and at different rates of investment on particular assets.  That's what the model -- the information that it provides.  

     MR. YAUCH:  You would have known last time in your last application that lines, for example, were -- when they get old, they are riskier than other assets; right?  The model didn't tell you something that you didn't know in that regard; right?  Or did you not know what assets were risky before? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  We knew that assets were aging.  What the reliability risk model does is it confirms to us the contribution towards reliability risk that each one of these assets makes. 

     MR. YAUCH:  So it's that granular detail that has led you to reset your expectations of what you need in terms of capital spending?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So that granular detail enabled us to pinpoint where those investments should be made across transformers, lines, and breakers, which investments in those particular areas would have the greatest impact on reducing reliability risk. 

     MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  I am going to go to Board Staff IR No. 67.  In this IR, Board Staff asked you if this problem had arisen unexpectedly.  And you say, no, it hadn't arisen unexpectedly.

Then they ask you if you’ve done any past cost-benefit analysis to deferring the kind of expenditures you are now asking, and you said no. 

So I was curious.  In the last two applications, when you talked about an aging asset base, you didn't calculate the risk or the cost to ratepayers of deferring that to now?  So now it's all coming home to roost at once; correct? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, in previous applications, we did not have a risk model.  

     MR. YAUCH:  But you knew it was aging and you said -- I went through the last application, and repeatedly you talk about an aging asset base has to be fixed.  But you decided not to do it then, and now you can't avoid it anymore. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  In the past application, we identified that we had aging assets and, in particular, aging station assets.  Consequently, we have made investments, and as a result of those investments, the relative contribution to the reliability risk by station assets has gone down; right?  So we are seeing an impact of the station investments. 


What has become evident to us, in the process of developing this investment plan, is the contribution of lines towards unreliability.  And I would refer you to the presentation, the customer consultation presentation.  If you give me a minute, I will give you the exact reference.  


So the reference the reference is B-1-2-2-2, and if you could turn it to page 13 -- I’m sorry.  I think you are calling up the report.  Do you have the actual presentation?  

All right.  So, on this particular slide -- and this is the outcome of some analysis that we had been doing -- it points out that 85 per cent of the interruptions are due to the performance of three types of assets and, of those three types of assets, the predominant asset type that contributes to unreliability is lines. 


So if we are to reduce reliability risk, we should focus investments in the lines area.  

     MR. YAUCH:  And your application largely focuses on lines, or puts more money towards lines and other aspects?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  And, again, it's not only because it reduces reliability risk and improves performance, but it's for all the other factors that I have previously mentioned. 

     MR. YAUCH:  Actually, I was going to ask a question about this.  If we can go up to page 11 in this, two slides up, I think.  Yes.  So -- actually one more down.  


So one of the reasons that you aren't actually agreeing to lower reliability problems for customers is that, in many cases, it's totally out of your control, correct, when it comes, particularly in SAIFI on the single circuit in northern Ontario? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Exactly. 

     MR. YAUCH:  No matter how much you invest, that number is not going to change, or will your investment lower the risk of weather-related incidents?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So where we can make investments to mitigate the impacts of weather relates to power quality.  

So, for example, you can have interruptions; right?   This is the frequency of an interruption, a momentary interruption that is caused by a lightening strike.  So that would count as a SAIFI measure.

That interruption and the effect of a lightening strike which -- I am not able to control lightening, not yet.  

     MR. YAUCH:  Working on it. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  We are working on it.  But that can cause a voltage sag for connected customers.  So, in other words, lightening will create a power quality issue.  And customers have come back to us and said, “You know what, though?  Momentary interruptions can impact us as much as a long interruption.”  

So the point I am trying to make here is there can be investments that we can make to mitigate the impacts of weather-related incidents on our customers.  It's still going to result in a momentary interruption, but our customers will be able to ride through it, as opposed to the situation that we have today. 

     MR. YAUCH:  But, on the metric, it will still show up in the SAIFI as a problem. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. YAUCH:  But, to the customer, it will actually be no difference, or really no difference. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  If -- 

     MR. YAUCH:  If you do the investment, as you are saying you are going to do. 

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  Once we can investigate the power quality and to what extent do these types of incidents and on what lines do they contribute to adverse power quality to our customers, we would make investments. 

It wouldn't change this circle, though.  You are still going to have those interruptions.  They just won't affect customers as much as they affect them today. 

     MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  I am going to go to Energy Probe IR No. 1, please.  So, in this IR, I asked you how much your development spending was a result of government policies in relation to renewable energies and closing the coal plants, and so on.  

You gave me percentage, and I went back and looked at how much you spent.  We don't have to agree on a number, but we can agree that those numbers tally up to 100s of millions of dollars that you spent on renewable programs; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We spent in the hundreds of millions of dollars to enable the connection of renewal generation, yes. 

     MR. YAUCH:  If you didn't have to do that, would you have put that money into sustainment, or would you have just asked for lower rates? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  You know what, I think's a speculative question that goes back a number of years.  I couldn't answer that.  

     MR. YAUCH:  In the past, you say your rates are reasonable.  You didn't do the big capital spending programs that you knew had to be done, even though everything was aging, because you wanted to keep rates reasonable.

So, in the past, if the rates are reasonable and you didn't have to spend on these other programs, wouldn't you have put it back into the grid?  Isn't that a fair assumption?

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I am going to object to this line of questions.  The witness did indicate that this is speculative.  The question that is being asked is what would Hydro One have done had the investments that it made previously not been justified on the basis that they were, and it calls for speculation to then say, well, then what basis would the level of investment have been justified on.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Understood.


MR. NETTLETON:  So I don't see this line of questioning being helpful.  It's not relevant, and it's speculative.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Yauch.


MR. YAUCH:  I mean, my line of thinking was, Hydro One says they have a problem.  Their assets are deteriorating.  Well, in the past they didn't spend the right amount of money to bring those assets up to where they should be.  One of the reasons they didn't do so is because they were mandated by the province.  In fact, that benefits Hydro One going forward, because they can say, Well, now we need that money that we put somewhere else.  I am just asking if, had they spent that money on actually sustaining the grid.  I don't think that that's speculative, to be honest.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can you ask the question on a go-forward perspective basis, Mr. Yauch; that is, to the availability of investments and what the investment criteria would be on a go-forward basis, which, I think we are looking at future test years here.  I think we would be more interested in that.


MR. YAUCH:  Is part of your revenue requirement going forward needed because you didn't get to use it in the past on sustainment?


MR. PENSTONE:  Our revenue requirement for the test years is required because of the condition, the current condition, of our assets.


MR. YAUCH:  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  I will also just want to point out that over the course of ten years asset conditions can change significantly.  So -- and this is why I was unwilling to sort of speculate what would we have done a number of years ago, rather than investing in expanding the network.  It would have depended on the condition of the assets at that time.  We know time has elapsed since then, and we know the condition of our assets now.  We also know the contribution that our investments would make to mitigating the reliability risks related to those asset conditions and that our customers have asked us to make investments to ensure that risk isn't increased, providing the costs are acceptable -- or I should say the rate impacts.


MR. YAUCH:  I am going to go to BOMA interrogatory 30, please.  So this was also brought up earlier, and it talks about -- or shows that often you were earning a higher ROE than the Board-approved ROE.  So my question is, you were earning these higher ROEs while at the same time knowingly letting your assets deteriorate.


Did the company ever consider using some of that above Board-approved ROE to actually bring their grid up to the standards it thought it had to be?


MR. PENSTONE:  I am unable to answer the question.  I was never party to any discussions that contemplated that.


MR. YAUCH:  Okay, I will leave it.


If you can go to Energy Probe 13, please?  I just want to clarify.  It appears that Hydro One's reliability is different compared to when you look at the different voltage lines that you operate.


Does your scorecard or your metrics deal with these different situations, that some of your lines perform much better than the others, or are you just going to have an overall metric that deals with reliability?


MR. PENSTONE:  So the -- in terms of the metric on a corporate scorecard?


MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.  I mean, do you break them out by different voltage lines, or is it just --


MR. PENSTONE:  The metric on the corporate scorecard relates to the SAIDI and SAIFI levels in the southern Ontario multi-circuit network.


MR. YAUCH:  But your reliability measures are different on the different voltage of lines, so we are asking, is it appropriate to apply these corporate scorecard metrics to the different voltage?  When you do an overall measure as the way you propose it, you are masking the differences that we are seeing on your assets.


MR. PENSTONE:  So we have subsidiary metrics, tier 2 and tier 3 metrics, that start to break this down into more granular parts of our network.  So we would have, for example, metrics related to reliability on the multi-circuit network, and again, talking about more -- let me step back.


We monitor the reliability across our entire network, both the single circuit and the multi-circuit.


MR. YAUCH:  And on the different voltages.


MR. PENSTONE:  And on the different voltages.


MR. YAUCH:  And those will feed into your scorecard.  The tier 2 and tier 3, they feed into the tier 1; is that how it works?


MR. PENSTONE:  So those --


MR. YAUCH:  If those are deteriorating or getting better does it feed into the tier 1?


MR. PENSTONE:  It does inform the performance of the top-tier metrics, yes.


MR. YAUCH:  Inform or actually shift?


MR. PENSTONE:  No, it will impact, right?  So if the performance of the northern -- sorry.  If the performance on the 230 KV delivery points is deteriorating, that will get reflected in the top-tier metric for SAIDI.


MR. YAUCH:  Are they weighted differently, the different -- are they weighted on the percentage of your assets that are of a certain voltage, or --


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MR. YAUCH:  -- or they are just flat?


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Go to Board Staff IR 91.  So the Board asks you if you would do a per megawatt sort of comparison.  You said, no, and we have heard this before, that Hydro One is a rural base, and so it's not really fair to compare it to other utilities.  But we think it actually would be very informative to see if Hydro One is able to deliver power to its customers at a lower cost over time.  And we think the best way to view this is through a per-megawatt-hour comparison, so let's say it costs you $20 per megawatt hour last year and you lowered it to 19.  That would show an efficiency in the company, but you are opposed to that, and we are curious why.


MR. PENSTONE:  I think one of the predominant factors is many of our costs apply regardless of the amount of energy that we deliver.


MR. YAUCH:  So this gets into the, if you conserve it doesn't really lower your bill, because the costs just go up to offset it.


MR. PENSTONE:  The infrastructure is there whether we deliver 10 terawatt hours or 20 terawatt hours.  And --


MR. YAUCH:  Is there any threshold in which you conserve and the costs will go down?


MR. PENSTONE:  In terms of the energy delivered?


MR. YAUCH:  Um-hmm.


MR. PENSTONE:  I can't think of one.  I mean, if you actually had a delivery point that was no longer consuming any power at all and we were able to, I will say, decommission that particular asset, our costs would go down, but when you take a look at the total amount of energy that's delivered across our entire system, I don't think, using this particular metric, you would see it as any kind of material change or not.


MR. YAUCH:  Would you be open to a metric that the costs per customer -- is that another way the Board could look at whether you can service certain customers at certain costs?  That's a clear way of looking at it.


I mean, you don't have to compare yourself to other utilities.  We understand that Hydro One might be a bit different, but you can compare it to yourself, that if you are able to lower the cost per customer, that would show that the company is becoming, as it says, commercially viable and customer-oriented, right?  If you are able to lower costs per customer?


MR. PENSTONE:  So to help me consider your question, when you say "customer", I want to be clear, our customers include generators, LDCs, and large users.


MR. YAUCH:  That's one way, but you could also look at end use -- the cost to all customers in Ontario, no?  We all do pay transmission charges.  They just pass them through the LDC to you.


MR. PENSTONE:  So, umm...  Many of our costs, as I mentioned earlier, are basically sunk and are established based on our network as it exists today.  So whether we have -- I will give you an example.  If the number of LDCs were cut in half through mergers and acquisitions, say, we still have to support the same infrastructure to deliver energy to fewer customers.


Do you see my point?


MR. YAUCH:  Right.  But your overall costs -- conceivably, if there were less LDCs in the province, it would be easier for you and lower OM&A and these sorts of things, right?


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MR. YAUCH:  What's the point of consolidation then?


MR. PENSTONE:  No, because the transmission infrastructure to connect LDCs is the same.  I mean, if tomorrow there was on one LDC in the province, the same transmission infrastructure would be there to support that one LDC.

MR. YAUCH:  Right, and your costs, as they are spread over all the different customers in Ontario, couldn't you show the Board that your overall costs are declining per customer in Ontario?


MR. VELS:  I think in that case, in your example, you would see the costs of a distribution company reducing.  And so the benefits of consolidating LDCs is in fact experienced in the distribution system, and not in the transmission system.


MR. YAUCH:  Okay. 


MR. VELS:  So one less LDC is not going the change any transmission connection points, but it will reduce the cost because of efficiencies in the distribution company which would be a benefit to their customers.


MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  In interest of time, I will just move on to my last questions and they relate to the RCE, this new metric that you have proposed, so we are curious.


First, are you aware of this metric being used in other utilities, or is this a Hydro One only metric?  Sorry, it’s SEC 38.


MR. PENSTONE:  This one we need to defer to a subsequent panel. 


MR. YAUCH:  You can't answer whether that's even -- you guys don't know anything about it?


MR. VELS:  Well, sorry, that's not Mike's intention. We did answer this in our evidence, and we were not aware of this being used publicly by another LDC, or another utility.


MR. YAUCH:  We asked you in an IR if you had asked Navigant for their opinion on it, or if Navigant had ever seen it, and you said no.  Has anyone given you any sort of feeling on this metric, of whether it's useful or not? 


MR. VELS:  Well, we think it's useful.  It's something that, as we are investigating and using it, informs us as to the impact of various actions and improvements, particularly in our maintenance efficiency on outages.


So we did put it in as a tier 2 or 3 metric, because we do want to use it and work through how useful it is to the organization. 


It's a reflection of the efforts that we went through to develop true outcome measures in a system, because of its diversity and complexity, that doesn't lend itself to top-line outcome measures.


So we do believe -- and hope, actually, over time -- that this metric will be helpful and will inform our decisions.


If it doesn't, then we propose to remove it from the scorecard.


MR. YAUCH:  All right.  Can you go to SEC 38, on page 3?.  So I was looking at the numbers and how you calculate it -- page 3, please.


So if, for example, you start in 2009 and you go to 2018, and you keep your maintenance and your unplanned outages the same, but you increase your gross asset value, your RCE goes down to about .08 without actually any noticeable improvement in the company in terms of unplanned outages.  That's correct, right? 


MR. HUBERT:  That is mathematically correct.  However, I would add if you are increasing your assets and you are not having any adverse impacts on your outages and costs, then actually there perhaps arguably is a reason that your RCE should be improving, because it would follow that as you build more assets, they do require more investment and maintenance and they do potentially expose themselves to more outages.


MR. YAUCH:  Your gross asset value will naturally increase as you replace some of your aging assets with newer ones.  That will naturally anyway.  It doesn't show the company is more efficient; it just happens.  And if everything else stays equal, the RCE goes down.


MR. HUBERT:  That is correct.


MR. YAUCH:  I don't understand how the Board would see that as an efficiency metric.


MR. HUBERT:  As I said, my view is if your gross assets are growing as a result of additional investment --which is justifiable investment, I am going to presume -- then as a result, one would expect that those assets would be exposed to more outages and would be also attracting more maintenance costs.


And if all other things are remaining equal and your RCE is improving, that is actually one measure of efficiency.  And I wouldn't trumpet it as being, you know, a measure that should be taken in isolation. 


You would have to look at the other measures that we have in our tier 1, tier 2, and tier 3 to see what is really going on.


MR. YAUCH:  Right.  For example, if you replace an old wood pole with a new one, the old one is depreciated and the new one isn't, so your gross asset has increased and your RCE goes down.  Is that not how it works?


MR. VELS:  No, that's not correct.  The RCE metric uses gross assets before depreciation.


MR. YAUCH:  Did you look at doing a net, or did you get any outside evidence or why not?  Did you use net asset value?


MR. HUBERT:  We did consider using net.  We actually had a discussion about that, and we believe because if you ever want to start comparing that in the event you can compare it with other utilities, you would want to isolate the effect of depreciation.  Different depreciation practices would perhaps make this more difficult to compare it.


But I do want to emphasize this is, as we can tell from this discussion, a bit of an exercise in a lower level lower tier lower-tier metric.  We are not proposing it for the scorecard because we are not quite sure how measurable and actionable it is until we try it for a while.


MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Those are my questions. 


MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Yauch.  Mr. Brett?  We will be targeting about 3:30 for a break, Mr. Brett.


Just one moment, please.  We have a question from Dr. Elsayed.


DR. ELSAYED:  Just a quick question about the reliability risk.  Did I understand you correctly that reducing reliability risk doesn't necessarily mean reducing or improving reliability.  Is that correct? 


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct, because of the other factors that can impact reliability, weather being the predominant one. 


So we would expect reliability performance to improve; we can't guarantee it.  Even though the risk may come down, it may be offset by these other external factors. 


DR. ELSAYED:  So if you're proposing to spend money on improving reliability risk, how can you demonstrate that you have earned a return on that investment?  You can't measure risk. 


MR. PENSTONE:  The only way that we could demonstrate it is by showing that as a result of the investments being made, that the risk is actually lower than what it was today. 


DR. ELSAYED:  How would you do that?  How do you measure risk? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Using the model where we are able to say -- the biggest impact here would be the demographics of our assets have changed.  Consequently, there are fewer of those assets in the hazard area, and because there are fewer in the hazard area, the probability that would now get reflected in reduced reliability risk.


DR. ELSAYED:  So that would be a modelled result, not a tangible measured result.


MR. PENSTONE:  It is a modelled result.  I would like nothing more -- again, if you normalize weather out, you can expect the reliability to improve as a result of that.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you. 


MR. QUESNELLE:   Mr. Brett, whenever you are ready.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I am going to start with a few questions on taxes.


MR. QUESNELLE:   Do you have a compendium, Mr. Brett? 


MR. BRETT:  I do.  I think you should have it, or at least Mr. Millar has it, and I left it with the panel’s lawyer at lunch, so they have it.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, that will be Exhibit K1.5, the BOMA compendium.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  BOMA CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


MR. BRETT:  Okay, if we may start.  If you turn up page 1 of the compendium just for a moment -- I guess, Ms. Cheung, this may be for you, I don't know, or Mr. Vels.


That is your exhibit, your evidence C1, tab 8, and I just wanted to ask you to confirm at the beginning of this that you did pay Hydro One Networks on the -- when the company went public, when Hydro One Inc. I guess went public, you paid a departure tax, Hydro One Networks paid a departure tax of 2.3 million, right?  2.3 billion, sorry.  Is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  So 2.3 billion is Hydro One Networks Inc.'s liability.  That's the cost that they paid --


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. CHEUNG:  -- for the departure tax.


MR. BRETT:  All right.


MS. CHEUNG:  The total departure tax was 2.6 for the total whole entity.


MR. BRETT:  That was my first question.  Is it 2. -- what is the 2.6 relative to the 2.3?


MS. CHEUNG:  So 2.6 is Hydro One consolidated, with all the legal entities.


MR. BRETT:  So in other words, what we normally -- what we call the departure tax, it's kind of a term of art.  It consists of some payment -- a payment made by Hydro One Networks of 2.3 to the government and a payment made by who, Hydro One Inc., of 300 million?  What's the balance?


MS. CHEUNG:  Let me just -- hold on, let me just check.  So 2.6 is the total --


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. CHEUNG:  -- billion was the departure tax.  2.3 of the 2.6 was from Hydro One Networks Inc.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. CHEUNG:  The remaining is Hydro One Inc. for about 250 million.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. CHEUNG:  And B2MGP was about 58, and the rest was from other subsidiaries.


MR. BRETT:  And I take it those additional taxes are  -- were part of the PILs regime prior -- what you were under prior to becoming a public company; right?


MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And that's in the Electricity Act and in the regulations to the Electricity Act; right?


MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Now, could you turn over to, please, to page 2-A of our compendium.  Do you have it?


MS. CHEUNG:  2-A, or is it...


MR. BRETT:  The -- 2-A is an excerpt -- is a page from your annual report in 2015.  But before I ask a question on it I want to just go back and -- the 2.3 billion that was paid, I mean, speaking very generally, is that the sum total of what you would have paid under the PILs regime to the Ontario government?  Is that equivalent to that?


MS. CHEUNG:  Can you rephrase --


MR. BRETT:  No, no, it's -- no, I am sorry, let me rephrase that.  That's not a good question.


Look at 2-A, page 2-A of our compendium.


MS. CHEUNG:  Um-hmm.


MR. BRETT:  And you can see under the heading "other developments" it talks about the change of ownership structure.  And then the last paragraph on the right-hand side, the right-hand column talks about PILs deemed disposition rules.  And I have a couple of questions on that.


MS. CHEUNG:  Sure.


MR. BRETT:  But, first, as I understand it, and Mr. Vels spoke to this briefly this morning, you actually paid a cash -- Hydro One Networks paid a cash amount to the government of 2.3 billion, but effectively the government funded that payment by injecting cash back into Hydro One Networks and taking back shares; is that right?


MR. VELS:  Yes, what I stated was we paid a departure tax cost.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. VELS:  And then in order to avoid a weakening of our balance sheet we issued shares for equity, an equity share, that's effectively to the province, and received proceeds from that equity issue.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  And that was, as I read it here -- I'm looking at this PILs deemed disposition rules -- the province, it says here in the second-last sentence, the province made an equity injection of 2.6 billion in Hydro One and received 2.6 billion common shares of Hydro One, so that was what you said; right?


MR. VELS:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And those shares were what?  This transaction, cash to the government, cash back, was done before, as I understand it, before the actual completion of the IPO; right?


MR. VELS:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Were the value of those shares $1, basically, each?  Was it 2.6 billion shares at $1 a share?


MS. CHEUNG:  Those were $1 per share.


MR. BRETT:  $1?


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah, Okay.  Now then, I am just going through this step by step so we can -- I can understand where we end up on this.


Now, the last sentence, looking at the last sentence on that PILs deemed disposition, the revaluation of the tax basis of the assets of Hydro One Inc. and its subsidiaries to fair market value resulted in the net deferred tax recovery of 2.6 billion.


Let me back up a bit.  Effectively what -- as I understand what the next step was was that, as you said this morning, under the provisions of the Income Tax Act, when you -- when Networks left the -- changed its status from being a section 149.1 company into a being a publicly owned company, that triggered -- under the Income Tax -- that triggered some things under the Income Tax Act, and one of those was that the assets of Networks had to be re-evaluated or revalued at market value; right?


MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.  So under the federal Income Tax Act, just before the change of ownership, you have deemed to dispose the assets at fair market value, and then you have deemed to acquire at fair market value, so that would represent the deferred tax recovery.


MR. BRETT:  And that revaluation to fair market value was from what, basically the starting value was the book value of the assets?


MS. CHEUNG:  We looked at the tax value for each assets --


MR. BRETT:  The tax cost?


MS. CHEUNG:  The tax cost.


MR. BRETT:  Is that similar to the book value?


MS. CHEUNG:  That might not be the same as the historical accounting value.


MR. BRETT:  No, would it be substantially different?


MS. CHEUNG:  It depends on the depreciation rates and the CCA rates.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Can you tell us what it was in your calculation?  What was the tax value, tax cost of the asset, before revaluation?


MS. CHEUNG:  I wouldn't have the details on hand.  We looked at each entity itself, all its assets, in determining the calculation departure tax.


MR. BRETT:  Right, would you be able to file that?  Could you check into it and file it?


MS. CHEUNG:  Is there a particular entity you would like to look at?


MR. BRETT:  Hydro One Networks.


MS. CHEUNG:  So we can take an undertaking on that.


MR. BRETT:  Sorry?


MS. CHEUNG:  Undertaking.  Yes, we have those calculations.


MR. BRETT:  All right, that's -- if you could, that would be helpful, I think --


MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J1.3.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO ADVISE WHAT WAS THE TAX COST OF THE ASSET BEFORE REVALUATION.


MR. BRETT:  Can you -- the -- the --


MR. THOMPSON:  Can I just interrupt for one second --


MR. CHEUNG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- Mr. Brett?  So what was the tax value before the transaction and what was the tax value after the transaction?


MS. CHEUNG:  I don't have those values on hand.  We did do an extensive calculations on the calculations.


MR. THOMPSON:  It must be a big number; is it?


MS. CHEUNG:  Yeah, it would be a big number.


MR. THOMPSON:  Like in the billions.


MS. CHEUNG:  I believe in the prospectus the value of Hydro One Limited in whole was 13.522 billion.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is that then to be compared to the rate base value of these two, of distribution and transmission?  To get some measure of the difference?


MS. CHEUNG:  I don't have the breakdown of that right now.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that's going to be looked after in the undertaking?


MS. CHEUNG:  Looking at the tax values and the market value.


MR. THOMPSON:  The before and after tax, what's the gain, is what I am trying to get at.


MS. CHEUNG:  Um-hmm, so the gain, you would need to look at a 2.3 billion departure tax that's at 26-and-a-half percent, so you have to gross it back up to see how much that gain was.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, that's 26-and-a-half percent of 50 percent of the gain; is that right?  Capital gain subject to -- only 50 percent of it is taxes.


MS. CHEUNG:  Well, some of it is capital gains and some of it is income tax, so there is two components.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  Well, as long as we are going to see it in some numbers, that would be helpful, thanks.  Sorry to interrupt.


MR. BRETT:  No.  Okay.  Let me just move on then.


I would like you to also -- I think the best, for me at least the best sort of story on this that we have is -- I would like you to look at -- I am sorry, just give me a moment here. 

I would like to look at page number 3J.  If you look at 3J, J as in John, in the compendium, and this is a page, this is page 108 from your prospectus, your long-form prospectus which under pin the issuance of the shares.


And if we look at this, I want you to look first at the paragraph that starts, "As a result of leaving the PILs regime.”  Do you see that about halfway down?


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, in the fourth paragraph.


MR. BRETT:  Yes, exactly. 

"Hydro One will recognize a deferred tax asset that is currently estimated in the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements of Hydro One Inc. to be about 1 billion 245 million, due to the revaluation of the tax basis of Hydro One's fixed assets at their fair market value and recognition of eligible capital expenditures.”

Now just in simple terms -- I am far from a tax expert, but what that's telling me is that the revaluation of the assets was in the order of 1 billion 245 million.  Is that right? 


MS. CHEUNG:  I think you need to look at the pro forma balance sheet.  So when I review the pro forma balance sheet, there is before the IPO or the prospectus the way they did the pro forma, there was a deferred tax liability and a deferred tax asset. 


So the deferred tax liability was reversed and resulted in a 1.245 billion deferred tax asset.  So if you look at the change, the revaluation was exactly the same amount as the departure tax of 2.6 billion. 


MR. BRETT:  So it's the sum of those two items that make up the 2.6 billion? 


MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, I am going to ask you about that second item later, because we come to that a little bit later.


But what I wanted to focus on for a moment was the method by which this revaluation was done.  And you say in that same paragraph that I was reading, you go on to say:

"This estimated fair market value of Hydro One's net assets was determined by Hydro One principally using a discounted cash flow approach for certain assets,” 
and you go on to describe that,

"and was used in calculating the amount of the departure tax payable that was agreed between Hydro One and the province in early September 2015.”

So in layman's language, what that tells me is that effectively, it was a negotiated deal between Hydro One and the province.  It was a deemed -- in other words, it was a deemed increase write-up of asset values.


And just to that point, the next sentence, as you know, says:


"The actual fair market value of Hydro One's net assets will be determined following pricing of this offering.”

So I take that to mean that once the company is a public company, its asset wills be priced in the market.  Is that right? 


MS. CHEUNG:  So let me give you the sequence of what happened.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MS. CHEUNG:  In determining the departure tax, we use a valuation of actuals of June and project it to October. 


MR. BRETT:  Sorry, would you say that again?


MS. CHEUNG:  The valuation, the discounted cash flow approach and asset approach was a valuation done by our external provider, and we used June actuals of assets projected to October. 


MR. BRETT:  Right. 


MS. CHEUNG:  Those are estimates.


MR. BRETT:  That’s what you mean by saying that's the estimate rather than the actual? 


MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  I mean, the estimate being made before the public offering.


MS. CHEUNG:  Right.


MR. BRETT:  So it's a different method of assessing what the increase of the asset value would be.  In other words, if you were to look at it after the public offering, the asset value would be -- would a measure of the asset value simply be the market value of the company?


MR. VELS:  No, no. 


MR. BRETT:  Okay, that's what I wanted to hear. 


MR. VELS:  So the reason for the differential dates was really to provide certainty of the cost without having to redo a valuation right at the transaction date, which would have been practically very difficult.


So the valuation method for the assets was, as outlined in the prospectus, that was based, as Ms. Cheung says, on our June values.


MR. BRETT:  So it remains constant.


MR. VELS:  Rolled forward with some level of estimate, in order to allow some certainty.


The value of the assets doesn't necessarily change just because of a change in the value of the shares post the date.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.


MR. VELS:  It would certainly inform a valuation.  So generally, if the value of the shares was materially lower, for example, than the valuation, it would draw into question the result of the valuation.  But the valuation methodology and results are still valid.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well maybe -- and I noticed you say and I know you want a hard stop here, so I just add the point that the departure tax payable was fixed at 2.6 billion, and will not be adjusted based on the fair market value of Hydro One's net assets as finally determined.


So if there is a tweaking to do as a result of a later application of that same formula, it doesn't change the 2.6 -- it didn’t change the 2.6.


MR. VELS:  That is correct. 


MR. BRETT:  Okay. 


MR. QUESNELLE:   All right.  Let's take a 20-minute break and we will resume at 3:50. 

--- Recess taken at 3:30 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:54 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Please be seated.


A little casual reading on the break, Mr. Penstone?  [Laughter]  You engineers.  I tell you.


MR. PENSTONE:  For the first time in my life I am not going to respond to that comment.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Brett?


MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


I just have a few other questions on the tax situation, Ms. Cheung.  If you go back to 3J, we were talking about that page, 3J of my compendium, just before we broke.  And in the same paragraph that starts "as a result of", and this one, the first question, I think, is a reiteration of what you have told me, but:

"Hydro One, as a result of leaving the PILs regime and entering the corporate tax regime, Hydro One recognizes a deferred tax asset that is currently estimated in the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements" -- that's quite something -- "of Hydro One's fixed assets at their fair market value and recognition of eligible capital expenditures."

Now, is that -- first of all, what is the reference to eligible capital expenditures?  Are those eligible for being revaluated?  Is that what that --


MS. CHEUNG:  Well, eligible capital expenditures is similar to goodwill intangible assets, so anything in excess of the fixed assets valuation would be intangibles, eligible capital expenditures.


MR. BRETT:  I see, okay, all right.  So -- and they would remain with their current value?  Is that the idea?  Or...


MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And then where does this appear now?  This asset now appears on this statement as you have described it, but does it appear -- is it in the 2015 annual statement, or will it be in the 2016 annual statement on the balance sheet; is that the idea?


MS. CHEUNG:  That's a tax value, not an accounting value.  So it would be buried in your deferred tax asset.


MR. BRETT:  Sorry, that was the 1245 billion?


MS. CHEUNG:  That's right.


MR. BRETT:  So what will appear as a tax -- deferred tax asset on the financial statement, that number?


MS. CHEUNG:  That represents all of the tax bump, including the eligible capital expenditures.


MR. BRETT:  I see, so it will be something smaller than that in respect of the -- all right.  I think I understand that.  That's in respect of all of the assets, though, including the ones -- the fixed assets that were written up and the non-fixed assets, like goodwill or whatever.


MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Right?


MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then -- and that will appear where, in the financial statements at the end of the year, or...


MS. CHEUNG:  For the annual report, or you are talking about this pro forma?


MR. BRETT:  The annual report.


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, it would be in the annual report.


MR. BRETT:  And was it in the two-15 annual report, or --


MS. CHEUNG:  It was 2015.


MR. BRETT:  It was?


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Then my second question is the -- if you look down about two-thirds of the way down there, that paragraph, that:

"Management believes that the deferred tax asset will result in annual net cash savings over the next five years due to the reduction of cash taxes payable by Hydro One."

And then it says:

"See note 2-C-6 of the unaudited statements for presentation of the net cash savings."

And then you describe under certain circumstances there that would have occurred on January 1st, 2014.


Now, if you go over -- if you go to 3K, page 3K of the compendium.  Do you have that?


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  That deals with this reference that -- note 2, and it -- if you look over to the next page, which is 3L, this is what was being referred to, I believe, in the previous sentence I just read you; right?  2-C-6, little 6?


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I see it.


MR. BRETT:  This is the actual statement of what the annual net cash savings would be estimated?


MS. CHEUNG:  So what that sentence is referring to is that because we have a CCA tax bump or the tax bump, that will reduce our taxable income over several years.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. CHEUNG:  And what Hydro One will be subject to is the corporate minimum tax.  That's minimum Ontario income tax.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. CHEUNG:  And that's where they see as a savings, as cash savings.  We won't be paying at 26-and-a-half percent.  Instead we will be paying at a minimum corporate tax rate.


MR. BRETT:  So that's -- I see.  You still pay the minimum corporate tax regardless, but your other tax is reduced by the amount of the CCA?  Is that the idea?


MS. CHEUNG:  That's the idea.  So the CCA will reduce your taxable income to zero.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. CHEUNG:  But Ontario has a minimum corporate tax rate --


MR. BRETT:  That you pay, okay.


MS. CHEUNG:  -- which is based on financial net income.


MR. BRETT:  Now, if we look at this 2-6, this little Roman numeral 6 on 3L that I was just about to refer to, it says here:

"The reduction in cash PILs and pro forma payment of the corporate minimum income tax result in a net pro forma reduction in cash tax..."

And then they go on to say:

"...for the year ended two-14 of 56 million and for the six-month period ended June two-15 of 49 million for a total reduction in cash tax of 105 million from over that period."

And that's what's shown in that little 6, eh, that's the reduction in cash and taxes paid, taking into account the minimum tax and the --


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, all right.


And then the third point is, I wanted to ask you to go back again to 2B, page 2B of our -- of the compendium.  And this is back on the 2015 annual report again, page 33, but this same statement effectively is made in the prospectus.  And it's entitled "Risks related to deferred tax asset".  And they explain what -- the first sentence explains what Hydro One has done, and the second sentence says:

"Management believes this will result in annual cash -- net cash savings over the next five years due to the reduction of cash taxes payable by Hydro One associated primarily with a higher capital cost allowance."

Then they go on to say -- and this is what I would like you to focus on:

"There is a risk that in future rate applications the OEB will reduce the company's revenue requirement by all or a portion of those net cash savings.  If the OEB were to reduce the company's revenue requirement in this manner, it could have a material adverse impact on the company."

And so this, as I read this, you're recognizing as one of the risks that you have to set out in your financial statements and in your prospectus, I guess, to be compliant, you recognize as one of the risks that the Board will reduce -- may reduce the revenue requirement in a future hearing; right?


MR. VELS:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Maybe I could turn over to a related -- a somewhat different subject.  I want to -- you have talked a lot -- well, you have talked quite a bit about reliability.  I want to just touch on, briefly, the relationship between the sustainability, the spending, and I am not sure I have got that right.  Sustainment capital.  That's what I want to say.  The relationship between sustainment capital and actual reliability performance.

And I won't take you to the figures on sustainment capital, because you’ve discuss those very thoroughly with others.


But if you turn up, please, page 8 of the compendium.  Page 8 is a page from your evidence and it shows -- I am interested in Figure 12.  And Figure 12, according to my reading of it, shows Hydro One has a higher system unavailability percentage for station equipment in the most recent year, 2015, than the CEA composite. 


And secondly, it shows a significant increase in unavailability of station transmission station equipment for 2015 compared to 2014, and for 2014 compared to 2013. 


One question: Do you have the numbers, the comparable numbers for the first half or the first three quarters of 2016 at this point?  Or is this something that is just computed on an annual basis? 


MR. PENSTONE:  I don't know the answer to that question.  I can take an undertaking to see if we can provide that information for you. 


MR. BRETT:  Yes, that would be fair, I think.


MR. PENSTONE:  If we have the information.


MR. BRETT:  If you have it.


MR. PENSTONE:  I will take the undertaking to confirm whether we have it and if we do, we will provide it.


MR. BRETT:  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  It's J 1.4.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  WITH REFERENCE TO PAGE 8 OF THE BOMA COMPENDIUM, TO PROVIDE THE COMPARABLE NUMBERS FOR THE FIRST HALF OR THE FIRST THREE QUARTERS OF 2016, IF POSSIBLE


MR. BRETT:  Now the question is why has this -- in your view, why is this major transmission equipment unavailability increasing over the last years?  Why is this -- and I take it just that this -- when we talk about station equipment, we are talking typically about transformers, breakers, protection control systems, and the like.


Why do you think that's increasing, the unavailability is increasing as shown on this graph here? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Umm --


MR. BRETT:  And I am sorry, I’m referring to figure 13.  I might have said figure 12; I meant figure 13. 


MR. PENSTONE:  This goes to the thesis of the application that our assets are deteriorating and as a result of that deterioration, they are being forced out of service on a more frequent level.


What you don't see is a commensurate degradation in reliability.  So even though this equipment is being forced out of service at an increasing rate, it hasn't been manifest directly in terms of reliability performance.  One of the reasons for that is because there is inherent redundancy. 


So a piece of equipment can be taken out of service, but because there is a second piece of equipment that can continue to serve customers, reliability has not changed. However, the reliability risk has. 


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I understand that.  And I guess the next part of my question is -- and really, you have been spending, as was made clear earlier today, quite a lot of money since 2012 on sustainment capital, and a lot of it has been in stations.  And we have the numbers in here. 


But it looks to me – well, you know these numbers anyway.  But a lot of -- most of that capital, sustainment capital, was spent in stations from 2012 on through 2015, 2016.  So my question is -- and I take your point about, you know, when you have an outage, when you have a planned outage, you expose yourself to another risk there, even in a multi-circuit situation.


But you are spending quite a lot of money, but you don't appear to be getting the reliability results.  I guess that’s what I am asking. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Our assessments have been that the required pacing of investments – well, I will step back and say if you look at our assets today, most of them were built 50 or 60 years ago, and there was a considerable number of stations and assets that were built at that time.


This was in the period where the province was growing at a positive rate, and the electricity infrastructure was being constructed to accommodate that growth, and there was a lot of infrastructure built at that time.


So what we have been doing is basically replacing that infrastructure as it's reaching its end of life.  And there is more.  If you are just looking at the demographics of our assets, we actually have to continue the pace that we have been at over the last two years in order to address the continued aging of those assets.


In terms of a detailed explanation of the forced outage rates, I would have to sort of examine that in more detail in the terms of the types of equipment and I would have some -- the planning panel, I would expect, would be able to answer some of these questions in more depth.


I can't do that analysis right now.  I could speculate, but I don't want to do that.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  Well, I suppose it will be -- not I suppose, but it will be a topic in the next, in the planning panel.


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 


MR. BRETT:  In any event, now just as sort of an aside, you had, I think, made the point in your evidence when we were comparing -- and I want to just see if I am right on this.  When we are comparing Hydro One performance in a given year to CEA numbers, you have to take into account that CEA works on a rolling five-year basis for reliability numbers.  Have I got that right, or have I got it reversed?  Or do you both work on a five-year rolling basis?


MR. PENSTONE:  So we report annual reliability performance --


MR. BRETT:  Right, your reports, yes. 


MR. PENSTONE:  -- correct, as do other CEA members.


MR. BRETT:  I see.  So neither one is a rolling average? 


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  The point that we make about rolling averages is a rolling average is a more appropriate means of determining whether reliability is trending in a particular direction or not versus just comparing one year to the next.  So consider a number of years. 


MR. BRETT:  Yes, but your comparison is year against year.  It's apples and apples with CEA numbers? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  This is a question now, I don't have this -- bear with me a minute here.  I don't have in my compendium this particular IR, but it's AMPCO 3, which is I think 163.  Or is it 143?


Anyway, I can quote you the piece.  It's a very brief IR.  It's only about two paragraphs long, and this is about the target, the reliability target. AMPCO had asked you about --


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, could I just have you pause for a second until I am able to pull this up?


MR. BRETT:  I will give you the full, the proper reference.  It's Exhibit I, Tab 3, schedule 3.


MR. PENSTONE:  Thank you.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  You have it? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 


MR. BRETT:  Now you were asked about the target range for T-SAIFI, T-SAIDI, and T-SAIFI-M that reflects top quartile reliability, which was your stated objective top quartile reliability relative to other Canadian utilities, CEA utilities for 2016, '17, and '18, and your answer was you use your transmission system average interruption duration index for multi-circuit, which I think you have said before, and the multi-circuit target for the upcoming year is based on normal operating conditions, and historical peers' performance is set to be between ten to 13 minutes.  Right?

Now, could you look at page 10 of the compendium?  Now, this is another apples-and-apples question, but page 10, if I look at figure 10 there, on that page, it shows an average duration of sustained delivery point interruption, 44.3 minutes in 2015, and that excludes major event or at least the major flooding event.


Now, is that the appropriate comparison, or is that a different number that's -- are those two different things I am looking at there, two -- an apple and an orange?


MR. PENSTONE:  They are actually two different things.  The chart that you are looking at right now represents the performance for our entire network.


MR. BRETT:  For your entire company.


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, for our entire transmission network.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. PENSTONE:  So consider our transmission network to basically be split into two --


MR. BRETT:  Oh, I see, this has the north built in, does it?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, okay.  I mean, I think your numbers do show that the north's numbers with -- the north of Barrie numbers are where you have single-circuit is -- they're more or less an order of magnitude bigger than the south of Barrie numbers.


MR. PENSTONE:  The performance in the northern network is certainly inferior to the south.  I agree.


MR. BRETT:  Does that include basically the -- does that include the cities in the north, like Sudbury, Thunder bay, Sault Ste. Marie?  It's all -- it's in --


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  So it's single-circuit everywhere there.


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, no.  Sorry, I want to be clear, right?  So there are parts of northern Ontario that are served in a similar fashion as the south that have, I am going to say delivery points that have multi-circuit supplies, but not nearly to the degree that exists in southern Ontario.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  And typically, to your question, they would be in the major urban areas in the north.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  Now, there is areas -- there is an area that I wanted to touch briefly on.  It has to do with the method and the sort of philosophy that you use in determining your investment plan, but it's a fairly large area in itself, and I am assuming that you will deal with this in the planning panel?  In other words --


MR. PENSTONE:  If the questions are posed the planning panel will answer them.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.


MR. PENSTONE:  In terms of the investment planning process, yes.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Yeah, I would like to be able to take you through that, but I don't think I want to do it today.  There is a number of other people and so on and so forth. But I do want to spend a moment on this concept of reliability risk, because it's getting quite a bit of play here, and I just want to ask you a couple of questions about this.


Let me -- before I do that, let me ask you one other issue.  There is a -- Board Staff Number 8, that's I 1-8.  You were asked about why you did not do an outside -- have an outside third party look at your condition assessment going into this.  And you said, No, we didn't.  And then you say you had to forego a third-party review in favour of conducting a customer engagement prior to developing the investment plan.  Once the plan was completed there was insufficient time for a meaningful review to occur.


And my question to you is:  Do you not have the resources to be able to do these two things simultaneously?  In other words, the people that have the substantive knowledge with respect to system condition assessment and the people that have the substantive knowledge about how to appropriately engage in, measure, and interpret customer reactions are different people; are they not?


I was sort of struck by this -- I was surprised by the answer a bit.


MR. PENSTONE:  So if you go back to the schedule that existed, to prepare the investment plan and to prepare the filing, the critical path involved the customer consultations.  So we had to -- we had to complete -- sorry, develop and complete the customer consultations before we could finalize the investment plan, before we could then establish the application and to meet our target filing date.


So when you looked at all the sequence of events that led up to being able to file, I believe it was at the end of May, there was no opportunity between the time that we had completed our customer consultations and finalized our transmission plan to include another step for a third-party review.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, on the question of the reliability risk concept, you have discussed this at some length.  Now, you did say you focused on -- you are only using this concept -- at the moment you are applying it to what you consider to be the three asset types with the largest customer outage consequences:  Lines, transformers, and breakers.  Right?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And you say the output of the risk model is a measure of the change in system reliability resulting from the planned investment relative to a baseline; right?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  Now, the -- and you make clear -- well, let me just take this a step at a time.


You make clear, I think, that this method is based on hazard curves; right?  Essentially.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's a key input to it, correct.


MR. BRETT:  And those would be -- I mean, you can do a hazard curve, as I understand it, for any asset, individual asset, but you have done them effectively for the three groups, and I don't know whether you have done that by merging the hazard curves for each individual asset in those groups or by a somewhat different method.


But how have you done a group hazard rate?


MR. PENSTONE:  So we considered the hazard curves for those three assets --


MR. BRETT:  Hazard curves, yeah.


MR. PENSTONE:  -- separately.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. PENSTONE:  And then we considered the extent to which each one of those assets has contributed to unreliability.


MR. BRETT:  Each one of the three groups or each one of the --


MR. PENSTONE:  Each one of the three groups.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. PENSTONE:  And then after we have done that we are able to come up with a composite reliability risk score.


MR. BRETT:  For the entire collection of assets --


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  -- over the three groups.


So -- but your -- you would agree with me, then, as I -- at least I think you would, that the asset condition, the condition of the individual asset is not an explicit part of the hazard curve of the exercise.  Basically, your model deals with age and the incremental probability of failure as age -- as an asset ages prior to -- prior -- based on prior failure experience, I guess, for the same asset class?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's right.  It's a fleet-wide assessment.  The --


MR. BRETT:  It's demographic in its nature.


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  It doesn't get into asset condition or other factors.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's right.  Asset conditions actually inform the actual investments that we make.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  And you make the converse point that I want to confirm with you that these -- this reliability risk tool gives you a directional notion.  It gives you some directional information, but it doesn't in any way determine -- or it doesn't determine which assets you will spend money on in the investment plan.  That's a much more complicated decision that draws on a number of different factors.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  The investment plan is based upon the process that you referred to, that you didn't want to get into at this time, that we can discuss at length during the planning panel.


MR. BRETT:  No you mentioned that you were asked -- I think you were asked about whether any other utility that you were aware had used or developed such a tool, and my understanding of your answer broadly speaking was that OFGEM had been developing such a tool and may be using, in whole or in part, but that there was no other -- is that the correct, first of all? 


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  So Ofgem has a reliability risk tool.  It's different than the ones that we use. 


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. PENSTONE:  And again, if you are interested in understanding the differences, that would be a topic for the planning panel.


MR. BRETT:  Did you discuss with OFGEM their work in this area before devising your own? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, I tried to get a trip to London, England, but it didn't work.  No, the short answer to that is no.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And is there any other utility, to your knowledge, in the Canada or the US that uses this particular method? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Not to my knowledge.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you, those are my questions. 


MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you very much, Brett. Okay, Ms. Girvan? 


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Ms. Girvan has switched places with me.


MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  I am happy to proceed.  Panel, I have a compendium and I wonder if I could get that marked before I start.  I think you have that before you. 


MR. QUESNELLE:   We are just looking around for it here.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Janigan, do we have copies of that? 


MR. JANIGAN:  You do. 


MR. QUESNELLE:   Oh, maybe we have it up here already.  We do. 


MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we mark that, Mr. Chair, as K1.5, the VECC compendium. 

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


MR. JANIGAN:  And you should have one as well, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  We will find it. 


MR. JANIGAN:  First of all, I wonder if I could take you to page 4 of the compendium.  It sets out some aspects of the 2015 new governance agreement that Hydro One entered into with the province. 


And one of the provisions of the agreement -- would you agree with me that there are provisions that seem to be focused on obtaining more independence from government oversight?  Would you agree with that characterization? 


MR. VELS:  I am not sure I fully understand the question. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, let me deal specifically with the restrictions on the right of the province to initiate fundamental changes.


I assume that is a restriction that provides Hydro One with more independence from government oversight, in and of itself.


MR. VELS:  Thank you, I understand now.  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And does the agreement have any example of what is a fundamental change? 


MR. VELS:  Offhand, I cannot tell you, because I don't recall. 


MR. JANIGAN:  What is your understanding of what a fundamental change might be? 


MR. VELS:  An example would be the sale of one of our businesses. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay. 


MR. VELS:  That would be an example.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But to your knowledge, there is nothing in the definition section, in the governance agreement or anywhere else, that actually defines that term.


MR. VELS:  I’m afraid I just don't recall that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Could you undertake to provide me with that information?


MR. VELS:  Absolutely. 


MR. MILLAR:  J1.5. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE HONI'S UNDERSTANDING OF "FUNDAMENTAL CHANGE"


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, are you aware of what the purpose of these changes were?  Is it fair to say that these changes made Hydro One more sellable, or increased its value to investors? 


MR. VELS:  I think it would be fair to say that the government -- and while I am clearly not privy to all of their conversations -- felt that it was important that Hydro One be governed as an independent public company, and the fact that they would have retained 85 percent of the shares post the IPO would have led some shareholders to question the ability of the company to operate in a fully independent manner, which I think hypothetically would have had an impact on the valuation of the company and would have potentially resulted in some doubt as to who was making the decisions, relative to the operation of the company.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


MR. VELS:  And the government made it clear that they wanted to be perceived as not a manager of the this company, but a shareholder of the company.  That was the reason for many of the governance changes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you.  I wonder if you could turn up page 8 of my compendium.  That sets out, on table 1, Hydro One’s values and business objectives.


I believe in your discussion with my friend, Mr. Rubenstein, you indicated that you came to the company in June of 2015, I believe, from a position with Maple Leaf Foods.


MR. VELS:  In July 2015, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  July 2015, thank you.  Now, when you arrived were you given this document or this table, or was this something that evolved while you were there? 


MR. VELS:  This table?  I actually can't recall that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I assume at some point in time you were provided with a summary of the strategic direction of Hydro One.


MR. VELS:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And do you recall whether or not it was similar to this table or not? 


MR. VELS:  The business objectives were similar to the business objectives that we have included in the transmission rate application, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Were among those business objectives an objective to maximize the value of Hydro One? 


MR. VELS:  No. 


MR. JANIGAN:  No, okay.  Now, I understand from the discussion earlier that we are going to obtain the 2017 scorecard for the company that will be presumably approved by the board on December 2nd, and I believe as well the scorecard that provides the incentives for individual executive management as well at the same time.  Is that my understanding -- is my understanding correct? 


MR. VELS:  We haven't provided that undertaking yet. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. VELS:  We are working through how we might do that and I expect that, hopefully shortly, we will have an answer on that. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, just for my understanding, on page 9, there is from -- on Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1, there is a proposed transmission scorecard.  And what is the vintage of this document?  It's in the compendium on page 9. 


MR. VELS:  Yes, thank you.  It's the scorecard that we have included in our evidence.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is that the presentation day scorecard, or is it --


MR. VELS:  No, this is the scorecard which we worked on and prepared between December 2015 and May 2016 for the purposes of inclusion in the transmission rate filing --


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay. 


MR. VELS:  -- as the scorecard that we propose we would be measured by for approval by this Board. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Currently, by this Board.

MR. JANIGAN:  Currently, among these different metrics in table 8, which one of those are linked to your financial compensation?


MR. VELS:  Can I just ask, which one of these are linked to management's financial compensation?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I think in general, not just yours.


MR. VELS:  So customer satisfaction would be one of them, safety, the current proposal for inclusion in our management compensation scorecard as system reliability, various elements of cost control, but in most cases would be tier 2 and tier 3 metrics that fed into these cost control metrics, in-service capital as a percentage of the OEB approved plan, and I think that's it.


MR. JANIGAN:  And you were citing some stats earlier that something like 80 percent of your remuneration was based on performance, according to this metric.  Is that standard across the management of Hydro One?


MR. VELS:  No, it's not.  I will add that another metric that is included in my compensation is the earnings of the company, total earnings of the company.


MR. JANIGAN:  Total earnings, okay.


MR. VELS:  Throughout the management staff of the company, the relative weighting of the team goals, as we call them, or the metrics that I just mentioned, the short -- small number of metrics that makes up 80 percent of my compensation at lower levels of the organization would reduce.  So that at the lowest level their compensation would be 50 percent, would be this team scorecard, as we call it, and the other 50 percent would be metrics that are specific to their line of business and their work activity, and they would be metrics based in general, but would be specific to the actions that they can take and the impact they can have on our business.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, would it be the case that they are sort of -- I mean, in that case basically 100 percent of their remuneration, that's 50 percent on the team scorecard and 50 percent on their line of business, but 100 percent is based on some kind of metric.


I assume that there is some sort of baseline metric that is achievable that provides some sort of base level of remuneration.  Would I be correct on that?


MR. VELS:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And you have had some experience, I take it, with incentive packages at previous employment like Maple Leaf Foods?


MR. VELS:  Yes, I have.


MR. JANIGAN:  And how does this compare?


MR. VELS:  It's quite similar, in that the most significant goals of the organization, in this case, for example, customer satisfaction or safety, effectively inform everybody's compensation.  And then there are specific goals that are -- aside from that that inform the remainder of the compensation.


I would point out, though, that these compensation structures were constructed from the perspective of advice from other compensation consultants and the board of directors' compensation consultant, and they are fairly standard across most large public companies.


MR. JANIGAN:  Which ones are you referring to?  Are you referring to the Hydro One incentives?


MR. VELS:  Yes, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And I assume Maple Leaf was --


MR. VELS:  Which was similar to Maple Leaf and similar to other publicly traded companies.  Where the primary goal of an effective compensation system is to align the interests of the various stakeholders with the actions of management, which is why we have a combination of, if you want to call it segments in our team scorecard, where safety is clearly -- is of paramount importance to us, safety of the public and of our employees, and that's always in there.


And then we have segmented the scorecard to align with our customer orientation, and then we have what you would call a work performance section, where you find the metrics like reliability and in-service capital, which I mentioned.


And then the remainder is the earnings of the company, which is -- it looks after the interests of the shareholders.  So it is designed to be a balanced outcome where no one stakeholder or no one outcome trumps the other.


MR. JANIGAN:  Will we be able to tell when we get the approved scorecards and possibly the management scorecards what percentage is allocated to each area in terms of financial incentives?


MR. VELS:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wanted to deal with as well the part of the incentive that's dealt with by way of total earnings of the company.  And on page 14 of my compendium 

-- I believe Mr. Rubenstein referred to this earlier -- that for the fifth year in a row Hydro One transmission will exceed its regulated rate of return.  Am I correct on that?


MR. VELS:  That would presume that the nine months of performance in 2016 continued at the current rate.


MR. JANIGAN:  And as I understand the answer on page 14 to this interrogatory by BOMA, number 30, that the primary reason for the overearning has been weather.


MR. VELS:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Do you have weather-normalized figures for your ROE?


MR. VELS:  No, we don't.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, isn't that kind of an important metric, given the fact that the ROE will vary this much with weather and your incentives are based on the earnings of the company?


MR. VELS:  Well, every company that I have worked for, and in every year that I have worked, there have been some element of uncontrollable elements that we have to account for.  So I can't -- I have never seen a compensation scheme where every item within your at-risk compensation was totally under your control, so our job really is, in this particular metric, if it was earnings, is to strike a balance between, you know, achieving our objectives and finding ways to be either more efficient or to improve our earnings in other areas.


So, yes, there are elements of uncontrollable factors in all of our business, both transmission and distribution, and it is a -- it is something that we have to accept.


MR. JANIGAN:  As I understood the conversation that you had earlier -- and I forget who you had it with -- the amount of energy consumption does not affect your costs, but clearly the weather and energy consumption affects your revenues; am I correct on that?


MR. VELS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Not to be difficult --


MR. VELS:  Oh, sorry, I have been corrected here by my partner.  Revenues -- and I was getting mixed up with our distribution business, so I apologize -- our revenues are based on peak load in the transmission system and not on energy consumption.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, but if weather is affecting this in the way it does in terms of escalating the earnings, I assume it comes on the revenue side, not on the cost side?


MR. VELS:  In general that would be correct, except for the cost of damage to the transmission system caused by storms and other events, which we would have to remediate.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But the majority of the difference -- the majority of the reason that you have overearned in this case is weather, and effectively, I guess what you are telling me is that because weather is a risk, that weather is variable, that you believe that there will be years where there is weather that is favourable to the company and weather that is -- and years where weather is unfavourable to the company, and that you don't use normalized figures to look at the earnings of the company for the purpose of incentives. 

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Could you provide us with weather normalized figures for your ROE? 

     MR. VELS:  We don't have weather normalized numbers; we do not prepare them. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  You couldn't do it.  Now, in 2015, Hydro One overearned.  But if you look on page 11 of my compendium, that was also a year in the reliability section that you failed to -- there was a decline in availability.  


My question is:  Should ratepayers get back some or all of the over earning if you fail to maintain or improve on your scorecard?  

     MR. VELS:  That's a very wide question.  So I think the -- I don't think I have a good way of answering that, unless we could be specific to the metric you are referring to.  But we are responsible for the system and we are responsible for delivering outcomes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Do you think it might be important that there are financial consequences for the company if the scorecard results decline?  

     MR. VELS:  I don't believe so, because scorecard results, and sometimes declining scorecard results could be the right answer. 


For example, if we had a productivity metric and the right thing to do for the company was to incur costs, for example, that impacted that productivity metric, but it improved reliability risk, for example.  

In other parts of the system, for us to try and work through and sort through after the fact what the right decision was and what the relative weighting of a movement on a scorecard, which are frequently uncorrelated, should have on revenues, I think would be very difficult to do and not something that we would recommend. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Well, Mr. Vels, usually what you find with targets and incentives and companies is there is always a reason for not reaching your target or incentive.  

Don't you think it would be fair across the board that, if the company failed to meet a particular scorecard target or their metrics were declining, that there would be consequences for the company?  

     MR. VELS:  I think there are always consequences of actions.  So where targets for management, for example, have been set and management misses those targets, their compensation is impacted. 


From a company perspective, if our reliability changed and worsened because of, for example, a storm effect, but we were able to mitigate it and, in fact, it didn't have an impact on customers because of our actions, I think one would have to debate what the right thing to do in that circumstance was. 

So to have very generic adjustments to revenue for unpredictable outcomes on a scorecard, I think it has the potential to drive behaviour that may be contrary to desired outcomes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  That seems to me to be an argument against a mechanistic approach.  But what about an approach that provides a company an opportunity to actually present a reason for these declines?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, I think that's a speculative question, because we'd have to debate the scorecard item that we are referring to. 


For example, ISA or in-service capital is a metric that we do have on the scorecard.  It is a commitment that we make to the OEB, and it is directly reflected in our rates requirement. 


So we do have an in-service capital variance account that does provide for a penalty to the company if we do not put in service the capital that we committed to the OEB. 


So that would be an example where it is under management's control.  It is a particular metric that's directly reflected in rates, and we have agreed in this case that it's appropriate that a shortfall in that metric would result in a penalty to the company. 


In that case, one would argue, and I think should argue that it is appropriate.  In general, having a general discussion on other scorecard items, I think, and asking a question as to whether we should adjust revenue for changes in scorecard items without specifics, I think, is a difficult discussion to have. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  And, as you say, management failure to meet targets has financial consequences.  And I take it the same thing happened at Maple Leaf Foods when you worked there. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes, it did. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  And the company consequences presumably played out in the market. 

     MR. VELS:  That's right.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  The Government of Ontario recently announced a two-terawatt deal to import power from Quebec.  Does meeting that require capital expenditures on the part of Hydro One?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We are currently upgrading some circuits in the Ottawa area to enable increased transfers from Hydro Quebec.  I can't say right now whether it's linked to that particular contract.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  And are those capital expenditures included in this application? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Dealing with page 17, you speak of the tier 2 and tier 3 metrics which have come up here before. 

As I understand it, the metrics themselves -- well, let me ask:  How were these metric incorporated into the planning activities of Hydro One, and what's the difference between a tier 2 and a tier 3 metric?  

     MR. VELS:  I will defer to Mr. Penstone on the planning discussion, except to say that the planning process itself follows a set of steps that are not necessarily always designed with the outcomes in mind.  But they are outcomes and KPIs that are generated from the process, which is to say that we may set targets, for example, after the completion of the planning process -- for example, brush clearing or safety or some metric like that.  

So they are not necessarily an integral part of the planning process and are frequently set as outputs of that process. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  They are components of how you determine an outcome that is a metric that drives the planning process, though.  Would that be correct? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So the planning process is designed to achieve the company's business objectives and, as a broad statement, the KPIs basically measure the extent to which you achieve business objectives. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  And part of that is, when you take it down to the level of tier 2 or tier 3, they -- those measurements determine ultimately the KPI, how it performs in the KPI, the company?  Have I got that correct, or did I get something wrong? 

     MR. VELS:  Actually, could you rephrase that?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  The measurements that are associated with tier 2 and tier 3, you use them in order to determine the company's performance by way of the KPI?  

     MR. VELS:  I think that would be fair.  So we have, for example, a customer satisfaction metric, which is a tier 1 metric.  But the drivers of that top tier metric are frequently broken into sub-metrics or, as we have called them, tier 2 and tier 3 metrics.

So we would either to drive behaviour on the part of certain members of our management alternatively to understand why a metric was moving, we would measure a tier 2 or a tier 3 metric as well, because the top-level metric is not always obvious from movement in that metric as to what happened underneath it, and customer satisfaction is a great example, because we segment our customers into many different segments, and what drives satisfaction for those customers are different outcomes whether, you know, depending on what customer you are, where you are in the system, so we would have had a tier 2 and a tier 3 metric for those types of drivers of the top customer service metric.


MR. JANIGAN:  Did I hear this correctly that tier 2 and tier 3 metrics, however, have some kind of relationship with the financial incentives of management?


MR. VELS:  They may.  And in many and most cases they would.  But in the example that I gave you, our customer group would most likely at various levels of that group have the top-level customer metric, and we would use the tier 2 and the tier 3 metric to understand what the driver was and the movement in that metric was.


So our metrics are used not only to compensate management, they are also used to understand our business and to drive plans and actions to improve the metrics.  So it's a combination.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  On page 27 on my compendium it deals with the unit costs in table 3.  And I was wondering, how do these unit cost metrics are used to drive efficiencies?


MR. VELS:  Well, I will take a shot at that, Mike, if you want to add on that.  So we will look at the plans, for example, for wood structure replacement that our lines group would have, and depending on where they're planning to replace their poles, what the poles are made of, composite or wood, for example, the area of the province, the outcome of that plan would -- and the various components and characteristics of the poles, for example, would have driven out a particular metric for cost per pole.


That metric might actually be higher than the previous year, but it is reflective of the commitments they have made in their work plan.  So we would, assuming we agreed with the calculation of the metric -- and that's part of the process that we go through with our management to make sure that we satisfy that they have actually calculated correctly and it actually is a stretch number, we would set that as a target for the people that are involved in that area of the business and that activity.


And to the extent that they met that target they would be paid a bonus or paid compensation.  To the extent that they missed it the compensation would reduce.  To the extent that they were able to improve it they would earn more compensation and there would be a range of outcomes around that productivity metric where they could either earn nothing if they really did a bad job or earn a reasonable amount if they beat the metric.


So that is a sort of a real-life example of how we would set compensation and drive behaviour to improve the metric and therefore by definition improve efficiency to the benefit of our customers.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you.  On page 22 of my compendium --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Janigan, I'll just ask, I would like you to complete today if you can, if that's reasonable.  Are you going to be much longer?


MR. JANIGAN:  Ten minutes, I think, Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I don't see anybody has a concern with the time.  That's fine.  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much for the indulgence.


At page 22 it sets out a metric for evaluating efficiency of what is a fairly ambitious capital program. And that is, as I understand it, the percentage of OEB-approved budget for in-service projects.


Why is that a good measure of efficiency?  If you have spent all the money you said you would, but let's say you put in half the expected capital assets, why would that be good?


MR. VELS:  Which page are you on?


MR. JANIGAN:  I am on page 22.  And it deals with the project cost estimates.


MR. VELS:  Oh, okay, so your question is, is it good practice for our project actual cost to consistently fall below our estimated cost?


MR. JANIGAN:  And why is that a good measure of efficiency?


MR. VELS:  And where I am confused is I thought you referred to in-service capital, as opposed to the metric that's on this page, which is sustainment capital divided by gross fixed assets.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. VELS:  That's just a clarification I am seeking.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, my understanding is that the metric is derived from the -- using a percentage of the approved -- OEB-approved budget for in-service projects, and that's the measurement.  If I am wrong on that --


MR. VELS:  No, I don't think so.  I don't think that's right.


MR. JANIGAN:  Can you describe what that metric is for evaluating efficiency?


MR. VELS:  You mean the metric on the page, the sustainment capital over gross fixed assets?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. VELS:  Oh, you know, I am sorry, I think you are referring to the tier 2 metric, which is the actual cost versus estimated cost for completed capital projects?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. VELS:  Right.  I apologize.  I was reading the middle column.


The way we look at it is that accuracy is important.  So we would not be pleased if there was a consistent trend of continually spending less than the approved budget and materially less than the approved budget, because that would imply that there was padding in the estimates or that the contingencies were too high, and the result would be very inaccurate estimates of what it would cost to complete our work program.


So we are focused on a plus/minus tolerance, as opposed to how far you can or how much less you can drive your project.  And the reason for that is accuracy in engineering and accuracy in estimates, and the ability of our company to better understand what it's going to cost to put a capital program in and when is an improvement that in fact we are driving and is a big part of our capital efficiency project that we -- that we completed earlier this year.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I believe you had a conversation with one of my friends concerning the metric called RCE.  And it would appear on page 27 that -- and the page 29, where it sets out Table 4, that this seems to be a metric that you seem to be doing fairly well on.  Am I correct?


MR. VELS:  Yes, that's right.


MR. JANIGAN:  And, however, this is not part of the scorecard.  I believe it was indicated earlier it was because of the fact that the data set was relatively new?  Was that what I took from...


MR. VELS:  Yes, that's right, it's a metric that we have developed that we think can inform us in terms of how successful we are being on our maintenance programs to avoid outages related to the size of the fixed asset base that we are managing.


It is a metric that has been improving sequentially.  We believe that is mostly related to improvements in our maintenance programs, but the point was made earlier today that increases in gross fixed assets, for example, can cause that metric to improve, and without necessarily a direct correlation to our maintenance program.


So it is something that we are tracking, we are investigating and measuring, and if we believe it does drive appropriate behaviour, it is likely a metric that we would recommend in the future. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn up page 34 of my compendium.  And this deals with a criticism that was levelled against Hydro One by the 2015 Auditor General's report, and the auditor notes that under the inaccurate data in OEB funding requests that similarly noted the 24 or 43 transformer inaccurately reported in the 2015/2016 rate application as having a low or very low risk of failure were already scheduled to be replaced during this period. 


Isn't this particular metric something that could be used to get a better measure of -- and respond to the criticism of the Auditor General?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Before Mr. Vels talks about the applicability of the metric, the planning panel will describe the circumstances behind the decisions that led to investments being made as opposed to the ones that were previously identified.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  But let's put aside the merits of the particular objection.  It seems to me that the use of this metric may be one way to deal with the particular complaint.  Am I right, or am I wrong?  

     MR. VELS:  I think the only answer I can provide you is I don't know.  Certainly, it's a metric that, on the face of it, implies that we are doing a good job of making asset selections and maintaining them and striking a good balance between asset replacement and preventative maintenance. 

As I’ve said, I am not sure that we are sufficiently comfortable with the metric to be able to comprehensively make that argument and use it as, I guess, a reason for why that's -- why the Auditor General's comment may not be entirely correct. 

In terms of dealing with the Auditor General's responses, our approach has been to take them seriously, to understand if there is merit to them, and, if there is, to change the process and improve what we are doing.  And I think that, practically and reasonably, is what anybody would expect this company to do.  And if it does improve this metric and others, I think that's a win for everybody. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much for your answers, panel.  That concludes my questions.

Thank you, Mr. Chair, for your indulgence in going past five o'clock. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Janigan, and thank you, panel, for today.  We will be starting at 9:30 tomorrow morning with Ms. Girvan, I believe, if that's the order.  

Ms. Girvan, tomorrow morning, are you up first?  Okay, thanks very much and have a good night. 

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at  5:08 p.m.
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